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Shaping Tomorrow

We live in the most exciting era of sporting development. 

A time when full contact sport no longer holds centre 

stage. It is a passage of time when the art of sport is 

appreciated over the physicality of competition. Today, 

latent skills and blossoming talent have a place amongst 

our youth and the generations to come. It is now the 

subtle brilliance of deftness, the art of touch, mastery of 

stroke and pure strategic guile that has turned cricket into 

the sport of the future.

Today cricket is the stage for mental agility and peak 

physical condition. It is purity of both mind and spirit that 

produces champions. The re-invention of cricket globally 

has rejuvenated a desire to master the ultimate game. A 

sense of camaraderie pursued by both men and women 

alike. It’s now a passion for gamesmanship, integrity, 

honesty and fair play. It is a game that can be embraced 

and played or supported by everyone. 

We can’t undo the past, but we can shape the future. 

We do what we do today in cricket, for what will happen 

TOMORROW.
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Vision and 
Mission

ViSion

Cricket South Africa’s vision is to make cricket a truly 

national sport of winners.

This has two elements to it:

	 To ensure that cricket is supported by the majority of 

South Africans, and available to all who want to play it.

	 To pursue excellence at all levels of the game.

miSSion

As the governing body of cricket in South Africa, Cricket 

South Africa will be lead by:

	 Promoting and protecting the game and its unique 

spirit in the context of a democratic South Africa.

	 Basing our activities on fairness, which includes 

inclusivity and non-discrimination.

	 Accepting South Africa’s diversity as a strength.

	 Delivering outstanding, memorable events.

	 Providing excellent service to Affiliates, Associates and 

Stakeholders.

	 Optimising commercial rights and properties on 

behalf of its Affiliates and Associates.

	 Implementing good governance based on King 3, and 

matching diligence, honesty and transparency to all 

our activities.

	 Actively marketing cricket from Mini Cricket to the 

Proteas.

CoDE oF EThiCS

Cricket South Africa’s Code of Ethics is based on:

	 Fundamental ethical values that are enshrined in the 

South African Constitution.

	 The core values of the game of cricket as defined in 

the Preamble to the Laws of Cricket.

	 The principles and ideals contained in CSA’s Pledge to 

the Nation in 2002.

	 CSA’s role as the custodian of cricket in South Africa.

CSa VaLUES

Values are norms or standards for right, good and fair 

conduct. They are the underlying beliefs we hold about 

the way life should be lived and business conducted.

CSA is committed to living by the following values:

(a) Honesty and integrity.

 We tell the truth and act consistently on a set of 

ethical principles.

(b) Professionalism and diligence.

 We strive to perform at the highest level of 

excellence.

(c) Mutual respect and fairness.

 We acknowledge the rights and dignity 

of others and treat those we engage with 

equitably.

TranSFormaTion

Cricket South Africa subscribes to targeted 

transformation as outlined in the Preamble of the South 

African Constitution as well as Chapter Two which deals 

with the Bill of Rights and Equality (to promote the 

achievement of equality, legislative and other measures 

designed to protect and advance persons, or categories 

of personas, disadvantaged by unfair discrimination 

may be taken).

The implementation of CSA’s Transformation Policy and 

its 10 Thrusts are monitored continuously. The Policy 

is reviewed from time to time in terms of the dynamic 

nature of cricket and of South African society as a 

whole.
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ThrUSTS inTEnDED oUTComES

The Role of CSA CSA are the custodians of the sport and are responsible for 

the control and enhancement of human assets and strategic 

opportunities.

Democratisation This is the process through which human assets of the organisation 

are unlocked by allowing all legitimate stakeholders to be heard, 

encouraging local ownership and ensuring accountability and 

participation in all of its structures.

Redress and 

Representivity

CSA has a moral duty to ensure that cricket grows and flourishes 

amongst the disadvantaged who come from Black African 

communities. This involves a commitment to the development of 

potential amongst black African people at all levels of the game. 

This programme reaffirms its mission to bring cricket to all the 

people of South Africa and to facilitate a culture of nonracialism.

Constitution The Constitution of CSA should be a unifying force, reflecting 

the sentiments of a modern organisation, promoting sound 

governance, facilitating strategic guidance, encapsulating their 

executive powers and accountabilities and protecting codes of 

conduct.

Competitiveness 

and Revenue

To ensure the sustainability of cricket in South Africa through 

its ability to compete effectively in the entertainment and sport 

industry and to maintain and grow its market share.

          Development This programme must assist in establishing cricket as a people’s 

game which integrates all communities into cricket activities, 

thereby contributing to the shaping of a future cricket culture.

Closing the Gap To bridge the existing gaps between schools cricket, club cricket, 

provincial cricket and international cricket in order to minimise loss 

of human potential and optimise the return on cricket, human and 

financial investments.

Funding and 

distribution

To assist in supporting a financially and operationally viable and 

stable affiliate/provincial base. This will be achieved by establishing 

a fair, equitable policy for the distribution of funds that is accepted 

and supported by affiliates and rewards affiliates for their 

contribution to cricket.

Recording the full 

history of South 

African Cricket

To acknowledge, record and respect black cricket during the past 

century in order to establish the rich and comprehensive history of 

South African cricket, recognising diversity as a source of strength.

Accountability 

and monitoring

To establish a mechanism for the monitoring and implementation 

of the Transformation Charter and establish joint accountability 

among CSA and its affiliates during this process.
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Acting President’s
Message

The past year has been one of the most challenging 

and tumultuous years in the history of South 

African cricket.  The organization’s performance can 

be categorized into two broad categories, namely 

‘on the field of play’ and ‘off the field of play’ related 

pursuits. 

‘On the field of play’ the Proteas’ team and its 

management kept their eyes on the ball and ensured 

that South African cricket’s display window remained 

appealing. Throughout the year exceptional levels 

of professionalism have resulted in world-class 

achievements. Not only did the team distinguish 

themselves in being No. 1 at one stage in all formats of 

the game but their performances also ensured the further 

enhancement of the Protea brand’s reputation and image. 

CSA was fortunate to share in the warmth of the glow 

emanating from the team’s results, thereby neutralizing, 

to a degree, the negative impact of the problematic 

circumstances CSA found itself in.

The Proteas’ management team and individual team 

members have distinguished themselves not only 

in terms of results achieved, but also in the manner 

they were achieved. The quality of the team’s tactical 

and strategic approach towards match and series 

preparations reflected a level of professionalism second 

to none. 

In addition to the national team’s performance a number 

of individual players have also distinguished themselves in 

the international arena. Jacques Kallis, Dale Steyn, Hashim 

Amla, A.B. de Villiers and Lonwambo Tsotsobe are all to 

be congratulated in reaching No I rankings in the world 

either in the Test match or ODI format. Amla, Kallis, Steyn 

and De Villiers were also named in the ICC Test Team of 

the year and Morne Morkel in the ODI team of the year.

It is also a feather in our cap that one South African, Dave 

Richardson, has succeeded another, Haroon Lorgat , as 

CEO of the ICC.  A number of coaches who have cut their 

teeth on the South African circuit are further more doing 

well around the world. These include Mickey Arthur 

(Australia), Graham Ford (Sri Lanka), Duncan Fletcher 

(India) and Richard Pybus (Bangladesh). 

Regrettably organizational performance ‘off the field’ of 

play did not always match performances on the field of 

play. During my brief stint in office I have set myself two 

goals – to make sure that CSA’s corporate governance 

structure going into the future is on a solid foundation 

and that transformation is accepted as a strategic 

imperative throughout the organization. 

The issues relating to the well documented ‘bonus 

payment’ and the subsequent Nicholson saga and 

the allied problems thereto dragged on for more 

than 18 months causing considerable collateral 

damage. Protracted and highly public attempts to 

resolve internal issues culminated in the demise of a 

President and an Acting President; the appointment 

of the Nicholson Committee by the Minister of 

Sport, followed by the suspension of the CEO and 

the subsequent appointment of an acting CEO and 

another Acting President. 

The findings and recommendations of the Nicholson 

Committee were revealing and have had far reaching 

consequences for the organization from a governance 

perspective. These indeed go way beyond cricket and in 

the words of the Minister of Sport, the Nicholson report 

represents a watershed moment for all South African 

sport. 

Across the world national sporting organisations are 

subject to increasing levels of governance performance 

scrutiny from sponsors and governments. In response 

they are strengthening structures that support good 

and effective governance on the basis of improved and 

better quality leadership, higher levels of integrity, greater 

objectivity and accountability and better judgement. 

The board’s response to the challenge of re-inventing 

itself in a very short period of time has been astounding.  
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The task faced by the CSA Board was different in that 

sport governance structures are different to management 

boards in public companies, or regulatory boards in the 

utility sector. The reason for this is the requirements of a 

wider and more diverse range of stakeholders typically 

including bodies at both grassroots and professional 

level, as well as investors, business partners, participants, 

spectators and fans. However, the Board’s attitude, 

support and commitment to engage with the problems 

facing the rganisation, once convinced about the journey 

ahead, was exemplary. 

The appointment of an exceptionally competent and 

committed ‘Steering Committee’ comprising three board 

members, four independent members and myself to 

respond to Nicholson and to shape a new governance 

structure, was a key factor in the process. The contribution 

and work ethic of this committee was extraordinary and 

culminated in a modern sport governance structure 

which in many instances exceeded the recommendations 

of Nicholson’s report.  

The Board’s appointment of a Nomination Committee 

comprising an independent chairman and three 

independent members to screen and recommend 

five independent board members including a board 

chairman, was unique in a sporting context.  There is little 

doubt that the criteria and characteristics established 

to identify and compose the body of independent 

directors will significantly impact board proceedings and 

outcomes in the future. The challenge to affilliates now is 

to match the quality of the independents on the board 

with five affiliate elected board members from affilliate 

ranks.

In addition a more empowered Members’ Forum will 

hold the Board accountable to all members and will 

furthermore, inter alia, have the final ratification of 

changes to membership status including the upgrading 

and cessation of members.

The organization has also remodeled its approach 

to transformation by adopting a greater strategic 

focus. Transformation has been defined as a process 

of re-inventing, re-organizing and re-engineering all 

component parts of the organization based on internal 

and external strategic realities. 

The driving force behind the process is ensuring the 

establishment of a cricket system that is regionally 

sustainable from a demographic, infrastructural, 

financial and performance perspective.  The longer 

term implications of the fact that 85% of all under 

20-year-old South Africans are black african and only 

15% are white, coloured or indian, with the white 

population demonstrating a negative growth rate, 

can simply not be ignored. Under-utilization of our 

total available human capital base will be strategically 

suicidal in the longer term in that we will be ignoring 

one element of a significant potential competitive 

advantage. 

To facilitate the implementation of required initiatives 

to bring about a transformed system the Board has 

established a ‘Strategic Transformation Fund’ - a first in SA 

sport. Diligently pursued the approach will reshape the 

cricket landscape over the next 25 years. The process will 

be driven with every resource at our disposal to make 

sure that our game expands, becomes more accessible 

and improves on the correct principles. We dare not fail in 

this mission again.

 

It is worthwhile noting that SASCOC and the Department 

of Sport and Recreation’s Transformation Charters have 

been modeled on CSA’s approach.

The recent initiative anounced by SRSA to reintroduce 

sport in all schools will provide huge impetus to our 

efforts. Only government has the financial capacity to 

make this happen and, as Judge Nicholson noted in his 

report, ‘we have to move from the current status where 

nearly all Proteas have attended either Private or Model C 

shools’. 

I need once again to reiterate my thanks to the Board of 

Directors for the acceptance and faith they have shown 

in me and their support during my short term in office. I 

did not accept the invitation as acting President without 

any trepidation. However, most of my anxieties were put 

to rest quickly as Board members rallied and accepted 

the challenge of paving a new way forward for CSA. In 

the process a few invaluable lessons out of many were 

learned:

Firstly, the importance of functional as opposed to 

dysfunctional groups of people working towards a 

common goal to achieve meaningful objectives. 

Secondly, the necessity for elevating the level of 

professionalism in ‘off the field of play’ to the same level of 

professionalism currently displayed in ‘on the field of play’ 

activities. 
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Thirdly, the autonomy and self-regulating characteristics 

of sport needs to be protected. Suspect governance 

processes have opened the door to government 

involvement in CSA’s internal affairs. This should never 

happen again. 

We also need to thank North West for making Jacques 

Faul available as Acting CEO at extremely short notice.  

Jacques’ contribution has been exceptional in that he has 

re-equilibrated CSA’s precarious sponsporship situation 

under very difficult circumstances and in the process 

had a major influence in re-inventing CSA’s commercial 

activies. It was not without personal sacrifice in that he 

had to operate from Johannesburg and see his family 

over weekends in Potchefstroom. 

The sponsors who have re-confirmed and those who 

have come on board over the past 7 months need a 

special word of thanks. In many instances it was a leap 

of faith to enter into business arrangements with an 

organisation whose reputation and image profile was 

literally in tatters. It says a lot for their insight and our 

persuasive arguments that the organisation is in the 

process of ‘doing the right things right and differently’ and 

therefore a worthwhile investment. We won’t forget.

During the process the moral support from the player’s 

association through their CEO, Tony Irish, also has to be 

acknowledged. Their interest and support for the process 

did not go unnoticed. 

I also need to to thank the staff with whom I have been 

in contact with for their tolerance, understanding, 

exceptional proactive support and co-operation. Not 

once did anyone waiver to go the extra mile. Much of 

what has been achieved in such a short time can be 

contributed to their diligence and commitment to the 

process. It was a privilege to work with everyone that I 

had the privilege to interact with.

Finally a word of appreciation to the Minister of Sport, the 

Honourable Fikile Mbalula, who had the courage to take 

what many considered to be a highly controversial step of 

intervening in a sporting organisation’s affairs. If it wasn’t 

for the maturity of the Board and the sensitivity displayed 

by the Minister the project could have been a disaster.

Once we agreed the road map to follow the Minister 

demonstrated a high level of professionalism and a 

remarkable appreciation of the sensitive situation CSA 

found itself in. The challenge to bring all affilliates on 

board was always foremost in his mind and he never 

hesitated in his support to make sure we succeeded. 

In the process Mr Max Fuzani, the Minister’s advisor 

and a Steering Committee member, was a tower of 

strength and a soundboard of note. Whenever something 

controversial arose either out of attempts to align to 

Nicholson for practical reasons or in some instances to 

change his recommendations, improve on it, or introduce 

something new, whatever the time of day, he was 

available.  

Collectively all of us have contributed to turn an 

unfortunate situation into something of great value to 

CSA. On the horison a new and better future for the 

organisation is glimmering.  

Dr Willie Basson

CSA Acting President
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Dale Steyn 
celebrates taking his 
fifth wicket during 
day five of the first 
Investec Match 
between South 
Africa and England
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Acting 
CEO’s Report

inTroDUCTion

T
he Proteas’  Castle Lager squad has unquestionably 

been the silver lining to Cricket South Africa’s (CSA) 

operations this year.

And I say this not just because they have decisively 

beaten their nearest rivals, England, by a clear 2-0 margin 

at Lord’s, the traditional home of our great game, to 

become the undisputed No. 1 side in Test match cricket; 

nor do I say it because we have either the No. 1 or No. 2 

ranked player in all disciplines of both Test match and ODI 

cricket; nor am I underestimating the importance of that 

No. 1 ranking. Until such time as there is an official world 

Test Championship, that No. 1 ranking does hold world 

champion status.

What has stood out has been the professional, positive 

and principled manner in which they have gone about 

their business. Every player has taken responsibility for 

his own level of performance and they have shown the 

ultimate quality of true champions – the ability to win the 

big points under pressure.

This has been a very difficult year under review for CSA. 

The winds of change have indeed blown through our 

corridors at Board level, at senior management executive 

level and on the playing field where we have had a new 

coaching team headed by Gary Kirsten and a changed 

leadership with AB de Villiers taking charge of both the 

limited overs Proteas’ squads.

As sporting people we have to admit that not all our 

structures are where we want them to be. We have to 

admit to and learn from our mistakes and from recent 

history, where necessary to take it on the chin, and 

move forward with a unity of purpose and a sense of 

determination.

The Proteas have shown us the standards that are 

attainable and this is reflected by their holding the No. 1 

ranking in all three formats of the game at the time of 

writing. I am indeed grateful to them for setting and 

maintaining the highest level of performance regardless 

of other circumstances. It now behoves all of us to 

follow their lead and make cricket the best played and 

administered sport as we go about our vision of making 

South African cricket a truly national sport accessible to 

all.

The Proteas’  achievements are dealt with in greater detail 

in a later section of this report but I must highlight at this 

stage the wonderful performance of Vernon Philander 

who took 51 wickets in his first seven Test matches 

to become the quickest South African to achieve this 

landmark and the quickest world-wide for more than 100 

years. Another of our quicks, Marchant de Lange, took a 

sensational 7/81 on debut against Sri Lanka, the third best 

debut Test match figures by a South African.

At the start of the season there was a lot of adverse 

comment about the depth of our fast bowling resources, 

particularly if Dale Steyn or Morne Morkel were to be 

sidelined by injury. By season’s end the debate was rather 

about how to fit them all into the same XI! It is a position 

of great strength to know that we have players of the 

calibre of Marchant, Lonwabo Tsotsobe and Wayne Parnell 

among others sitting on our reserve bench.

Congratulations must also be extended to Jacques Kallis, 

AB de Villiers, Dale Steyn, Hashim Amla and Lonwabo 

Tsotsobe who have all at various times occupied No. 1 

official ICC rankings for batting and bowling in either 

the Test match or ODI arena. We are extremely proud 

of all of them and, although cricket is a team game, it is 

heartening to know that our best players are performing 

extremely well on a consistent basis.

The New Age International Friendship Cup match also 

enabled us to pay an official and long-overdue tribute to 

Jacques Kallis who is unquestionably our greatest player 

of the modern era and one of our greatest of all time. He 

has been far more than a great cricketer; he has been a 

wonderful role model and brand ambassador, who has 

always represented all that is best about our game. He has 
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also set a magnificent example of self-service through his 

establishment of the Jacques Kallis Trust.

Thankfully he is still enjoying his cricket as much as  

ever and his wonderful career is showing no signs of 

running out of steam. With good management he  

can be our champion for years to come in an era when  

it is not unusual to see players extending their careers  

into the late 30s.

While on the subject of the Proteas I must pay tribute 

to Mark Boucher, whose career came to an end under 

untimely circumstances. The word ‘tragedy’ is often 

used loosely in a sporting context but his injury has 

affected his life way beyond the game is a real tragedy. 

We wish him God’s speed for a good recovery and, when 

circumstances permit, we will welcome him back into our 

structures. His expertise, level of experience and, above 

all, his tenacity – AB de Villiers refers to him as the ‘Proteas 

little staffie’ – are qualities that will enhance greatly our 

development pipeline.

The important leadership changes we have made to our 

cricket structures have not been limited to the Proteas. 

The appointment of Corrie van Zyl as General Manager: 

Cricket and of Vincent Barnes as Head Coach at the High 

Performance Centre with responsibility for coaching our 

important South Africa A and SA Emerging squads has 

strengthened our development pipeline and has seen 

numerous players returned to their franchises as vastly 

improved products.

I would also like to congratulate Andrew Hudson and his 

senior selection committee for an outstanding job well 

done. There has been consistency in their selection as 

well as encouragement and reward for those who have 

done well at South Africa A and franchise level. As a result 

the introduction of various new Proteas’ caps has been an 

unqualified success without exception.

There have also been important changes in our head 

office. One of these was the appointment in terms of 

the CSA Board of Directors resolution taken last August 

of Pume Canca as Manager: Legal, Compliance and 

Secretariat. We are living in a complex and ever changing 

world of corporate governance and Pume has made a 

big difference already in making sure we understand the 

processes and have the best possible advice at all times.

We have been disrupted during the year by the 

resignation of both our Commercial Manager and 

Jacques Kallis hits 
out during the 
first Investec Test 
Match between 
South Africa and 
England
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our Corporate Relations Manager not to mention two 

important Board members who chaired the Audit and 

Risk and Remuneration Committees respectively.

This has inevitably placed an extra burden on other 

staff and Board members and I would like to thank 

them for the extra responsibility that they have willingly 

shouldered to ensure that the operational side of our 

business functions smoothly. In particular I would like to 

single out our Chief Financial Officer, Naasei Appiah, who 

took on much of that load.

CSa DaY

CSA Day celebrated its fourth edition this year in its 

normal slot immediately after our affected players 

returned from the Indian Premier League. This ‘Oscar’ 

event which also includes the camaraderie of a golf event 

involving our administrators, players, sponsors and other 

stakeholders, has grown remarkably over such a short 

period of time and honours appropriately our stars both 

of today and TOMORROW.

The build-up to the climax of naming the CSA Cricketer of 

the Year has added excitement and lustre to the occasion, 

particularly as there have been so many outstanding 

candidates in the running for CSA’s ultimate honour. The 

award has, in fact, been won by seven different cricketers 

in the nine years of its existence with Jacques Kallis and 

Makhaya Ntini having won twice and Shaun Pollock, Dale 

Steyn, Graeme Smith, Hashim Amla and Vernon Philander 

once.

This year the award went to Philander who was 

also named Castle Test Cricketer of the Year after 

overwhelming the cricketing world by taking 51 wickets 

in only seven Test matches – the quickest any bowler has 

got to this mark in the last 100 plus years.

There were two dual international winners on the 

night: AB de Villiers, who was named Sunfoil One-Day 

International Cricketer of the Year and SA Players’  Player 

of the Year, and Richard Levi, who was named CSA 

International T20 Cricketer of the Year and also won the 

KFC “So Good” Award for his world record century against 

New Zealand in the same format.

The other international award went to Marchant de Lange 

who took 7/81 on his Test match debut against Sri Lanka 

and also bowled a memorable final over to take 2/2 and 

clinch the T20 series against New Zealand.

Vernon Philander 
with his awards
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In the domestic professional category the three main 

awards went to Dean Elgar (CSA 1-Day Cup Cricketer of 

the Year), Farhaan Behardien (MiWay T20 Cricketer of the 

Year) and Alviro Petersen (SuperSport Series Cricketer of 

the Year).

Matthew Maynard, who guided the Nashua Titans to 

two titles in his debut season, was named CSA Coach of 

the Year, while Morne van Wyk and Faf du Plessis were 

recognised by their peers to be named South African 

Cricketers’ Association Most Valuable Player and Domestic 

Players’ Player of the Year respectively.

In the operations category, Shaun George 

was named CSA Umpire of the Year while 

the CSA Umpires’ Umpire of the Year 

award went to Karl Hurter. Louis Kruger 

of North West was once again named 

CSA Groundsman of the Year as was 

the case with Gauteng with the 

CSA Scorers’ Association of the 

Year award.

As always, CSA Day started with 

the SA Cricket Awards Breakfast, in 

conjunction with KFC, to honour 

both the stars of TOMORROW 

and to recognise the past as well. 

The Khaya Majola Lifetime Award is 

the highlight of this function and this 

year the award went to Ewie Cronje of 

Free State for his contribution as player, 

administrator and in just about every 

other conceivable area of the game.

proTEaS

The various Proteas’ squads finished the 

period under review (the three-match 

Test series against England in July and 

August, 2012) with an unprecedented 

record of success across all formats, both 

as a team and as individuals.

Graeme Smith and 
Gary Kirsten proudly 
hold the ICC World 
Test mace
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The Proteas have gained the No. 1 ICC ranking in Test 

match cricket for the first time since 2009 – the only other 

time this occurred was in 2003 – and are a solid three 

points ahead of England and four ahead of Australia; they 

are level on points with England at the top of the ODI 

rankings but drop down to second place when the rating 

is calculated to the third decimal point; and hold the 

top ranking in the recently introduced T20 rankings with 

England again in second place.

Much the same applies to the individual rankings with 

Hashim Amla ranked No. 1 in ODI batting and No. 2 in Test 

match batting. Dale Steyn is the No. 1 ranked Test match 

bowler and Lonwabo Tsotsobe the No. 1 ranked ODI 

bowler. Both Jacques Kallis (currently the No. 4 ranked Test 

match batsman) and AB de Villiers (the No. 5 ranked Test 

match batsman and the No. 3 ranked ODI batsman) both 

held the No. 1 Test match rankings at earlier stages of the 

period under review.

Vernon Philander in his first year of Test cricket has soared 

up the rankings to No. 2 behind Steyn while Graeme 

Smith is ranked No. 7 Test match batsman and Morne 

Morkel the No. 9 ranked Test match bowler and the No. 4 

ranked ODI bowler.

Kallis is ranked No. 2 in the all-rounder category and 

remarkably Philander has already moved up to No. 7 in 

this category.

But it is inevitably the No. 1 Team Test ranking which 

is most significant. Until the official World Test 

Championship play-off starts in 2017 this is the effective 

Test match crown.

The Proteas have played seven Tests this year against Sri 

Lanka, New Zealand and England (six of them away from 

home) and won four and drawn three. The latter three 

might also have been won but for weather interference.

There were stand-out individual performances that are 

too numerous to mention. Pride of place must go to 

Vernon Philander who took 51 wickets in seven matches 

in his debut Test season including two 10-wicket hauls 

and six five-wicket hauls. 

Graeme Smith produced yet another memorable fourth 

innings century to win the Test match against Australia 

while Jacques Kallis completed 12 000 Test match runs 

and also scored his second double century.

Richard Levi set three world best performances in only his 

second T20 International when he made the fast century, 

hit the most sixes in an innings and equalled Chris Gayle’s 

highest individual score.

Another newcomer, Marchant de Lange, took the third 

best figures ever by a Protea on debut when he returned 

7/81 against Sri Lanka at Sahara Stadium Kingsmead.

FranChiSE CriCKET

Congratulations are due to the Nashua Titans and the 

Nashua Mobile Cape Cobras who were the two dominant 

forces in franchise cricket in the season under review as 

well as the bizhub Highveld Lions, who, along with the 

Titans, will be CSA’s representatives in the 2012 edition of 

the Champions’  League on home territory.

The Titans won both the four-day SuperSport Series 

and the MiWay T20 Challenge while the Cobras were 

triumphant in the One-Day Cup. This latter competition, 

the first to be decided during the course of the season, 

was a significant moment for the Western Cape franchise 

as it meant that they briefly held all three trophies at the 

same time.

It is interesting that one franchise has held two of the 

three domestic professional titles over the past three years 

with the Chevrolet Warriors achieving this distinction in 

2009/10 and the Cobras in 2010/11.

The dominance of the Titans and the Cobras was also 

reflected at national level where these two franchises 

were the major contributors to the various Proteas’ squads.
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There is no doubt that the standard of our 

franchise cricket remains extremely high. It is 

significant that players who earn their Proteas’ 

spurs on the back of their domestic form have 

little trouble in moving up to the next level. This is 

a continuation of a trend over the past few seasons 

with some of the impressive examples of the past 

season being Richard Levi and Vernon Philander 

of the Cobras and Marchant de Lange and Farhaan 

Behardien of the Titans.

The strength of our domestic game has been further 

reflected by performances in the 2012 edition of the 

Indian Premier League (IPL) which has produced a 

host of magnificent performances from our players 

and made them very marketable commodities for the 

Proteas’ brand.

As far as franchise formats were concerned there were 

two major changes over the course of the past season. 

The first brought the One-Day Cup right into line in 

terms of playing conditions with its international cousin, 

the ODI format. The return to 50 overs and the changes 

made to the power play regulations were highly 

successful, as was the decision in both limited overs 

competitions to give the team topping the log direct 

passage to the final with the second and 

third placed teams engaging in a one-

off play-off match with home ground 

advantage going to the franchise with 

the higher log position.

Less successful was the introduction of a 

seventh team – the New Age Impi – into 

the MiWay T20 Challenge. The thinking 

behind this move was laudable, creating 

opportunities for fringe franchise players as well 

as those in the semi-professional provincial competition. 

Unfortunately the playing field was never level for this 

team for a number of reasons and the Board of Directors 

has decided to return to a six-team competition next 

season. There will once again be a double round of 

fixtures with the same route to the final as for the One-

Day Cup.

The Board has also appointed an independent committee 

on the recommendation of the CSA Cricket Committee to 

review the structure of the domestic professional game. 

This is a sound move as the current structure has been in 

place for the best part of a decade. Any changes here  

will only be implemented for the 2013/14 season.

Marchant de 
Lange of the 
Nashua Titans 
bowls during the 
1 Day Cup Match
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Another matter of major concern is the financial model 

for the franchises. Without exception all the franchises 

are struggling at the moment and their sustainability 

is absolutely vital to the health of one of the most 

important parts of the development pipeline that 

leads to the success of the Proteas as our premier shop 

window.

This is a matter that is being addressed with urgency both 

at the Chief Executive Committee (CEC) level and at Board 

level.

Generally, though, I am very happy with the state of our 

franchise cricket.

naTionaL womEn’S TEam

Our national women’s team has not been as successful 

during the year under review as it was in 2010/11 when 

they threatened to break into the top four international 

women’s nations. Nevertheless they achieved their prime 

objective at the ICC qualifying tournament in Bangladesh 

of qualifying for both this year’s ICC Women’s World 

Twenty20 in Sri Lanka as well as next year’s ICC Women’s 

World Cup.

The prime problem at the moment is that our national 

team simply does not play enough international cricket. 

Apart from the tour to Bangladesh their only other 

international activity was the home series against a strong 

England Academy squad.

They managed to win that series and finish the season on 

a positive note.

What is encouraging is the fact that our women’s 

provincial competitions continue to grow in strength 

all the time with some spectacular individual 

performances. This will enable us to produce a 

far greater base from which to select our future 

international players.

One aspect that is well worth 

investigating is the possibility of 

our national women’s team 

playing what amounts to 

curtain-raisers to the Proteas 

when they have home T20 

International matches. There 

are other major cricketing 

countries that are doing this and 

it will not only provide additional 

Susan Benade 
in action during 
the Womens T20 
International 
match between 
South Africa and 
England Academy
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competitive matches for our national women’s squad but 

will also help to create household names from their ranks 

and to get them used to playing in front of big crowds.

The latter is something they will have to get used to if 

they are to advance to the knock-out stages of the ICC 

Women’s World Twenty20.

Putting our national women’s team on a bigger stage and 

making our top players headline names will also increase 

the possibility of gaining significant sponsorship for this 

side.

Women’s sport in this country is on something of a roll 

at the moment with the national women’s soccer and 

hockey sides having qualified for the London Olympic 

Games and an individual star such as Caster Semenya 

becoming a world champion in her own right.

It is important that we develop a similar profile for 

women’s cricket.

CoaChing anD high pErFormanCE

We can look back on a very successful year under 

review and we have without doubt one of the finest 

management teams to be found anywhere in the world 

with the appointment of Corrie van Zyl as General 

Manager: Cricket, supported by Vincent Barnes as head 

coach at the High Performance Centre. These two, 

together with Anton Ferreira, our Coaching Education 

Manager, bring a vast level of expertise and experience to 

our programmes.

One of the most important developments has been the 

decision of Sport and Recreation South Africa (SRSA) 

and the South African Sport Confederation and Olympic 

Committee (SASCOC) to launch the Coaching Framework 

Initiative across all codes. CSA has also piloted the Long 

Term Participation Development (LTPD) project and it is a 

real feather in our cap that the booklet we brought out at 

the launch of the LTPD is now regarded by SASCOC as the 

blueprint for all federations to adopt.

On the High Performance front much work has gone 

into strengthening relationships with the various 

franchises on all levels while the various flagships of the 

High Performance Centre (HPC) – South Africa A, South 

Africa under-19 and the SA Emerging Squad – have all 

performed extremely well.

It was particularly encouraging to see the likes of Alviro 

Petersen, Marchant de Lange, Dean Elgar and Thami 

Tsolekile using the opportunities at South Africa A level to 

gain selection for the various Proteas’ squads.

It is obvious that this area of our development pipeline is 

working extremely well.

FirST-CLaSS DomESTiC CriCKET

The honours were well spread around the various 

domestic provincial competitions. For the first time the 

provinces played in a T20 format Challenge as well as 

the One-Day and Three-Day Challenges. This was an 

important part of the identification of talent for the 

New Age Impi team that participated in the MiWay T20 

franchise competition.

Although the Impi have now dropped out of the franchise 

competition the same playing format will again be adopted 

for the coming season. The T20 Challenge has been re-

positioned so that those professional players not involved 

in the SuperSport Series will have some useful game time 

ahead of the start of the franchise T20 competition.

Northerns were the first winners of the T20 Challenge, 

beating Eastern Province, who had been unbeaten in 

the league phase, in the final at Axxess St. George’s Park. 

Griquas finished top of the Three-Day Challenge while 

Free State topped the log at the end of the One-Day 

Challenge.

It was particularly encouraging to see Border show vast 

improvement over their previous season to finish sixth  

on the final three-day log. They finished ahead of  

the likes of Western Province, Northerns and 
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KwaZulu-Natal. They have become very much a flagship 

province for the development of ethnic African talent on 

a large scale in conjunction with the excellent work that 

Mfuneko Ngam is doing at the Fort Hare Academy.

One of the standout performers for Griquas was Aubrey 

Swanepoel who made more than 700 runs at an average 

of 72 and a strike rate of 88 including four centuries. 

It gained him promotion to the Chevrolet Knights, 

the Central Franchise team. Christiaan Jonker of SWD, 

Pieter Malan of Northerns and Qasim Adams of Western 

Province all made more than 1 000 runs in the three-day 

challenge while Johan Bothma of Western Province and 

Gurshwin Rabie of SWD both took more than 50 wickets.

Free State won six of their seven matches in the One-

Day Challenge with the other being washed out and 

thus went through this competition unbeaten. On an 

individual level Abayulela Gqamane of Border had a 

remarkable season making both the joint fastest 50 (27 

balls) and the joint fastest century (70 balls) to finish with 

the top strike rate of 167 from his seven matches.

YoUTh CriCKET

The focus in youth cricket over the past year has been 

on the selection and preparation of the South Africa 

under-19 squad for the ICC World under-19 Tournament 

which was held in Australia in August. The squad was 

involved in home series against Zimbabwe and a very 

strong Pakistan team during the 2011-12 season and then 

provided the intake at the CSA National Academy for their 

final build-up.

It was probably the best prepared under-19 squad we 

have sent abroad and it was disappointing that they were 

knocked out at the semi-final stage by hosts Australia.

Neverthelesss the team returned home with plenty of 

positives including big wins over both Bangladesh and 

Sri Lanka at the group stage and against England in 

their quarter-final. There were also some fine individual 

performances, notably from spinner Prenelan Subrayen, 
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fast bowler Corne Dry, wicketkeeper/batsman Quinton de 

Kock and captain Chad Bowes.

All these players were among the best at the tournament 

and we look forward to seeing many of them making 

their mark at provincial and franchise level in the season 

ahead.

Subrayen captained the SA Schools XI chosen 

at the conclusion of the Khaya Majola under-19 

schools week and it was really encouraging to see 

an excellent crop of ethnic African players doing 

extremely well. Three of these were chosen for the 

Schools select XI.

Our youth cricket remains exceptionally strong in all 

age groups and I would like to congratulate and 

thank all those who give enormously of their time and 

talents at every level from KFC Mini-Cricket right up to 

the top rank of High Schools Cricket.

What is equally important is that cricket continues to 

grow as the sport of choice for our youngsters at an 

impressive rate. There is no doubt that the Schools 

Twenty20 has been a huge influence in this regard.

The national final was once again televised live and we 

congratulate Paarl Boys’ High from the Boland on winning 

this tournament.

ThE roLE oF SoCiaL mEDia

This phenomenon has presented us with the opportunity 

of a lifetime to take our brand to the fans and to enable 

them to interact with the Proteas as well. There is no 

doubt that it is outstripping the conventional media 

and it has the added advantage that we can control the 

message we want to put out in the public domain. It 

can be a double-edged sword but, with the right control 

mechanisms in place, the plusses far outweigh any 

negative implications.

It is an undisputed fact that Twitter and Facebook 

have become the fastest and most reliable source of 

information for our fans and it also provides feedback on 

how they feel about the way we go about our business 

and perform on the field of play.

Facebook attracted 25 000 fans two years ago and that 

number has now grown to 258 220. Twitter started from a 

much lower base of 3 500 and has now grown to 71 500. 

This is phenomenal growth by any standard.

Prenelan Subrayen 
in action during 
the ICC U19 Cricket 
World Cup 2012
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The other arm of our interaction with the nation is our 

website (www.cricket.co.za) and we aim to make it the 

definitive online home of cricket in this country. It also 

plays a vital role in promoting our developmental pipeline 

and the PURE PROTEA 100 percent campaign which both 

fall under the TOMORROW banner.

CommErCiaL

The aim of CSA’s Commercial Programme is to grow 

revenue in a sustainable way in order to enable CSA to 

fulfil its various mandates from grassroots development 

all the way through to the Proteas.

CSA generates the majority of its commercial revenue 

from sponsors and the sale of broadcasting rights. To 

support these revenue streams CSA’s commercial team 

draws on the resources from the Brand and Corporate 

Relations Department (Brand, PR, Media, Marketing, 

Events) to ensure that CSA delivers on its contractual 

commitments, and that sponsorship activations are in line 

with CSA’s brand building exercise.

CSA is fortunate to have the support of high quality 

corporate partners, one of whom, South African Breweries 

through its Castle Lager brand, has been with us for 

a very long time. In the past year we have welcomed 

the Willowton Group through its Sunfoil brand and 

Momentum as new partners and we would also like 

to thank MiWay and New Age Media for their support 

and bid them farewell. Our thanks must also go to our 

suppliers, sponsors and broadcasters, as well as the 

Department of Sport & Recreation for their support.

It has been a very difficult year on the commercial front 

in that we have struggled to obtain new sponsors as a 

result of the reputational damage CSA has suffered. The 

resignations of the Commercial Manager and the Brand 

and Corporate Relations Manager also left us without 

important senior staff members for a significant part of 

the year.

I am happy to report that CSA is now able to deal with a 

much more favourable environment in the commercial 

world following the remedial measures taken by the 

Board of Directors as a result of the Nicholson Committee 

of Enquiry into our affairs.

FinanCE

CSA suffered a loss of almost R47-million in the past 

financial year compared with the bumper profits of the 

two preceding seasons. This was largely in line with our 

budget expectations and the finance department are to 

be congratulated on keeping cost increases down to 6.2 

percent. In this respect we were also helped by positive 

exchange rate fluctuations.

The decrease in income can largely be attributed to 

a substantial drop in broadcasting rights income (the 

previous year included a tour by India while this season 

we had Australia and Sri Lanka as our guests) and minimal 

income from the ICC as a result of there being no major 

ICC events in the period under review.

In addition the reputational damage suffered by CSA 

had a considerable negative impact on our sponsorship 

income.

Our balance sheet, however, remains very strong and in 

terms of our four-year rolling plan there is no doubt that 

we will remain a going concern for the foreseeable future.

CorporaTE goVErnanCE

In terms of a resolution adopted by CSA’s Board of 

Directors in August the decision was taken to appoint a 

Company Secretary/Legal Advisor. Mr. Pume Canca took 

up this important position of Company Secretary on 

November 1, 2011. 

The Company Secretary provides the Board as a whole 

and directors individually with guidance on discharging 

their responsibilities. He is also a central source of 

information and advice to the Board and the company 

on matters of ethics and good governance. He also 

ensures that, in accordance with pertinent laws, the 

proceedings and affairs of the Board and its members 

and the company itself are properly administered. He is 

also meant to assist and ensure that the Board, individual 

directors and Board committees are evaluated annually. 

The Company Secretary also assists in developing an 

annual board plan and ensures compliance with the 

statutory requirements of CSA.

ConCLUSion

This has been a very challenging year for all of us but 

I am more convinced than ever that, with the amount 

of goodwill I have encountered since taking temporary 

office, we will come out of it a much stronger, more 

vibrant and efficient organisation at all levels of our 

business.

The report of the Nicholson Committee of Enquiry and 

our endeavours to accept its recommendations, albeit in 
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some instances in a slightly altered form, has given us the 

opportunity to set new standards for the way sport will be 

administered in this country in future.

It is interesting that the Protea flower, the symbol of our 

brand, regenerates itself faster than any other vegetation 

in this country after being destroyed by fire, and I feel that 

CSA figuratively is on a similar track forward.

I would like to thank our Acting President, Dr. Willie 

Basson, all the members of the Board of Directors and 

the CSA Staff for the support they have given me and 

also the selfless contribution of our Steering Committee 

as well as the Independent Nominations Committee. 

The unity of purpose we have seen has made it possible 

for a newly structured Board to take office at the Annual 

General Meeting. The Board will undoubtedly be 

strengthened by new Independent members who will 

bring expertise and specialist ability to key areas of our 

business.

Financially we remain a very strong, ongoing and 

healthy organisation and, in spite of the setbacks of the 

past year, we have managed to maintain and where 

possible increase our financial support to our grassroots 

development.

This has included the launch of a specific Transformation 

Fund and this is one area where we dare not rest on our 

laurels.

Looking to the future we have been given the honour of 

hosting the 2012 Karbonn Mobile Champions League and 

this is once again recognition of our ability to organise 

on the international stage. We also look forward to the 

Proteas defending their No. 1 Test ranking in Australia 

– always a challenging task – and then welcoming our 

guests from New Zealand and Pakistan. The ICC will again 

be holding a major event next year with the Champions’ 

Trophy being held in England. We have been given the 

honour of playing the opening match against World Cup 

champions India.

Sadly, South African cricket has once again lost many 

fine men and women over the past year. These include 

Basil d’Oliveira who was a catalyst for a great deal of 

the change which has brought our cricket to where it 

is today; Dennis Carlstein, a recent winner of the Khaya 

Majola Lifetime of Service Award; and most recently 

Elise Lombard who reached the highest levels of our 

administration and who has been an inspirational role 

model for gender equality in our cricketing society.

In conclusion I would like to thank all those – far too 

numerous to mention – for the support they have given 

to our wonderful game. Together we can realise our vision 

of making South African cricket a truly national sport of 

winners through building today for a better TOMORROW!

Jacques Faul

CSA Acting CEO
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Youth
Report

T
he Youth Department once again had a very full 

calendar from KFC Mini-Cricket all the way trough 

to the SA Under 19 team.

KFC mini-CriCKET

We have successfully concluded all 16 festivals and 

majority of the Unions are complying with the rubric 

document. Rubrics are the document that guide and 

measure the level of compliance of the Presidential plan 

in each province.

The National Seminar was this year held at San La Meer in 

Kwa Zulu Natal and was once again a big success. A total 

of 156 delegates from all 16 provinces attended the three 

day event.

Growth by more than 20% was reported in schools, 

coaches and players. For next year it was agreed that 

minimum of 5 schools per Union must become part of 

the program with a specific focus on rural schools.

16 regional seminars were successfully concluded: 

although every region is unique, it was heartening to see 

how everyone is making an effort to mirror the National 

Seminar when comes to putting together regional 

seminars. 

Three successful Test match festivals were played during 

last season.

Pretoria – Supersport park – 16 Dec 2011

Durban – Kingsmead - 28 Dec 2012

Cape Town – Newlands – 2 Jan 2012 

Western Province Boland hosted CSA/KFC Mini cricket 

tour 7-10 March 2012; the intention was to introduce 

sponsors to communities as well as to test the strength of 

the program in the area. 

The KFC Administrator of the year was Angela Cilliers 

from Kwa Zulu Natal Inland. She showed tremendous 

dedication and passion to grow the game in Kokstad in 

particular. 

naTionaL ToUrnamEnTS

The National Schools Tournaments are important 

milestones and measuring tools within the Pipeline 

process of Cricket South Africa. A total of 1196 young 

cricketers made it through various programs and 

processes to reach the pinnacle in their age groups.

The six schools Tournaments were held in East London 

(U13) , Benoni (U15), Vereeniging (Rural U17), Boys Under 

17 (Bloemfontein) Girls Under 19 (Kimberley), and Cape 

Town (Coca-Cola Khaya Majola). The combination of 

volunteers – Tournament Directors and Provincial Offices 

Quinton de Kock 
during the U19 
Triangular match 
between SA and 
Pakistan
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once again ensured that the normal high standards were 

maintained in almost all instances.

A new innovation was the rest day the Coca Cola Khaya 

Majola week during which the players conducted 

coaching clinics in the townships around Cape Town.

The following players were named as players of the 

tournament after outstanding performances:

Ryan Rickleton Gauteng)-CSA U15 week

Wesley Marchall (Easterns)-CSA U17 week

Sune Luus (Northerns) –Girls U 19 week

Diego Rosier (Griquas)-Coca Cola Khaya Majola week

SChooLS TwEnTY 20 ToUrnamEnT

649 schools participated in this year’s version of this very 

important competition in the Schools Cricket Calendar. 

The final weekend this year was hosted by the North West 

Cricket Union at SENWES Park.

The franchises were represented by Paarl Boys High 

(Cobras), Westville (Dolphins), King Edward VII (Lions), 

Northern Cape (Knights), Grey High School (Warriors) and 

Waterkloof High School (Titans). A total of 3 matches were 

televised.

Paarl Boys High beat Grey High School from Port Elizabeth 

in a closely contested final. Hard hitting batsman and 

Wicket-keeper from Paarl Boys High, Hanno Kotze was 

named player of the tournament.

This tournament has created tremendous interest and 

acted as a fantastic injection into Schools Cricket. New 

schools are starting the to play and dormant schools are 

also playing again because the incentives created by the 

Schools Twenty 20 tournament. 

TaLEnT aCCELEraTion program

Six Regional camps were held in both the Under 17 and 

19 Age groups within the franchise demarcations. Under 

17’s are put through a battery of test which includes 

fitness, pscycometric and skills. Around 140 players are 

involved in this process at any time. All the players are 

now part of the CSA players data base and are monitored 

by the scouts within each region.

The fourth annual CUBS week was held in Stellenbosch. 

This week is the calumniation of the process above and 

also serves as a very important of the selection process for 

the SA under 19 team. This year the Standard of Play was 

again of very high standard. 

This year the CUBS week acted as the final selection event 

for the SA Under 19 team. 

SoUTh aFriCa UnDEr 19

The South African Under 19 team are gelling into a very 

strong unit in preparation of the next ICC World Cup in 

Australia. 

A tour to England took place in July 2011. The team 

played in nine matches of which seven were won. Our 

team also beat their England Under 19 counterparts by 

4-2 in the Under 19 ODI series. The outstanding players on 

this tour were Quinton de Kock and Prenalyn Subrayen.

In January Zimbabwe and Pakistan toured and South 

Africa beat Pakistan in the Final of the Triangular. Pakistan 

then went on to beat us 2-1 in a closely contested series

Quinton de Kock was rewarded for his consistent 

performances at all levels by being named the South 

African under 19 player of the year.

The team selected to represent South Africa at the ICC 

Under 19 World Cup is one of the most experienced ever 

to leave our shores. The squad spent 10 weeks at the 

National Academy before departing to Australia.

England will be touring South Africa in February 2013 to 

play in five U19 ODI’S and two Tests.

Niels Momberg

Manager: Youth Cricket
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Senior Cricket
Report

T
he season brought about a few innovative changes 

within the Senior Cricket arena. New initiatives 

like the tour of the English Women’s Academy, the 

establishment of the Future Cup and the end of 

season National Club Championship are amongst these. 

Further elucidation on these activities will be discussed 

later. 

The highlight of the Women’s Cricket must be the fact 

that the SA Women National team hosted both the 

England Academy Squad and the England Women team 

as the top ranked team within ICC. This first encounter 

brought home the need for South Africa to look hard at 

its international calendar and to play more international 

matches in general and the top teams in particular.

The series against the England Women’s team, ranked 

No.1, provided a much needed bench mark for our 

Women Development programme. Albeit that England 

left our shores undefeated in any of their matches, the SA 

Women squad was left with unequivocal lessons learnt. 

This further provided the impetus for detailed preparation 

towards the ICC WCWCQ in Bangladesh in November 

2011. The SA Women qualified for both the ICC WT20 in 

September 2012 in Sri Lanka and the ICC WCWC in India, 

February 2013. 

The SA Women’s Squad then hosted the England Academy 

Squad in April 2012. The SA Women team reversed their 

fortunes in this series. This Protea side won the ODI series 

three nil and the T20 series, 2-1. This experience propelled 

the SA Women’s High Performance programme to establish 

a feeder system with immediate effect. These high 

Performance camps would continue on an ongoing basis.

The Women’s team delivered their first player to be 

nominated for the ICC Awards in the T20 category, 

namely Shandre Fritz. Yashin Ebrahim Hassan continues 

to raise the levels of performance of this team. He was 

ably supported by the medical personnel in this set up, 

Mesdames Megan Dutton and Charlene Gouveia. 

The national club championship has maintained its 

attraction and aspiration for many at club level to prove 

their attained prowess has now reached levels that 

would qualify these players worthy of places within the 

respective provincial teams. 

The two events in the season under review again 

delivered Maurice Aronstam (Northerns) as the 

September 2011 winner and Alwyn Voster (Gauteng) as 

the April 2012 winner. 

The student cricket under the leadership of Riaan Osman 

worked hard to promote this game within University Sport 

South Africa (USSA). The annual cricket weeks were well 

organized and the standard of play continues to improve, 

particularly within the B Section. This office wishes to 

recognise the hosts of these weeks, Vaal Pukke (B Week) and 

the Univeristy of Pretoria (A Week) for their sterling efforts. 

The value of these weeks get reflected in restoring 

confidence and profiling young talent as in the case of 

Simon Harmer, the student cricketer of the year, who 

subsequently reclaimed his place in the Warriors Franchise 

set up and is now a member of the SA “A” side. 

The Rural Week in the Nkonkobe District of the Eastern 

Cape during February 2012 was a resounding success. 

Gauteng emerged as the overall winners of the Rural 

competition. This event reflects CSA’s commitment 

to inclusion and providing access, opportunity to the 

communities on the margin. It is again evident that these 

areas also have players with talent. Tiaan Koekemoer 

(Limpopo), the player of the week, was subsequently 

selected in the SA U19 squad. 

The Parliament Cricket Club has been hosted with great 

aplomb and left Nkonkobe highly impressed with the 

Rural Cricket Development Programme and the overall 

efforts of CSA to redress past imbalances. 

The continuation of the inland and coastal Academy 

Weeks has put in place a clearer pathway for the post 
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U19 players to be tracked and catered for within the 

cricket development continuum. These weeks were held 

in Oudtshoorn and Kimberley respectively. The best 

performers from these events were selected into the 

respective Franchise Colts Squads.

The delivery of the second series of the Colts’  Week 

during 7-16 April 2012 in Potchefstroom exceeded all 

expectations. The coaches clearly made huge inputs in 

the team preparations. The improved overall standard of 

play, innovative game plans, good field preparation and 

quality of the hosts all conspired to deliver a week of note. 

Eleven Centuries that included two double centuries and 

six fifers speak volumes of the talent available for further 

development. These performances were acknowledged 

with accolades at an end of week function. 

The Colts’  Talent Scouts, Paul Adams, Victor Mpitsang and 

Wendell Bossenger impressed with their leadership and 

guidance that they provided at this week. 

A select squad of players was identified for further 

development in conjunction with their local coaches. 

A tri-series that included the best talent within Rural 

Cricket, Tertiary Cricket and the Colts’ participated in the 

Future Cup T20 series 2013 in Kimberley. The USSA XI 

won in a nail biting final against the Rural XI. Many young 

cricketers caught the eye of the talent scouts at this event. 

Vinnie Barnes shared his considerable experience to the 

excitement of these players.

SASAII hosted an INAS Tri-series with Australia and 

England during 14 – 26 November 2011. Mr Eugene 

Jacobs rescued this week and CSA is indebted to his 

leadership and passion to grow this game amongst all. Dr 

Geoff Smedley (President: INAS), Ian Martin (ECB) and Ms 

Juhi McInnerney (Cricket Australia) were in unison with 

commendations to CSA in hosting an impeccable event 

for this marginalized grouping of cricketers. 

South Africa played against England in the final of this 

event. GWCA were great hosts on all of the days.

All of the groupings within the Differently Abled sector 

held their respective weeks by April 2012. The following 

players were nominated in the respective disability 

categories; Sonwabile Bidla (Blind Cricket), Colin Venter 

(Deaf Cricket) and Luyanda Mfungula (Intellectually 

impaired).

The early clarification on the way forward of this vital cog 

within the CSA Cricket Development plan is essential. The 

proper management of this programme would promote 

it to a flagship development programme for sport in 

genral and cricket in particular.

The parliamentarians were wowed by what they 

witnessed during their February visit. 

Corrie van Zyl and Vincent Barnes became active in their 

engagement with in the UFH Academy programmes 

that would assist the mainstreaming of the UFH Cricket 

Academy and inclusivity of the National HP Program on a 

continuous basis.

CSA again made funding allocations to all Cricket entities 

within the security cluster of government. 

The SA Forces XI played against the Rural XI at Ngumbela 

Park in Healdtown on 22 February 2012. The Rural XI won 

this match by a convincing margin. 

The meeting on the NSRP and the Funding of School 

Sport was held at the Sandton Sun Hotel on 23 March 

2012. CSA identified and forwarded a list of schools to 

be developed or enhanced as cricket feeder schools to 

the NF to SRSA. We are awaiting their adjudication on 

this matter. SRSA funded the game development for 

women to a tune of R900 000.00. This assisted greatly in 

the development of a feeder system to the Women HP 

programme and to grow the participation numbers of 

women in cricket. 

Max Jordaan 

Manager: Senior Cricket 

Catherine Dalton 
and Danni Wyatt 
of the England 
Academy Team’s 
visit to SOWETO

Border President, 
Chris Nenzani 
receive kit from 
Honourable 
Freddie Adams 
(MP) during 
Rural Cricket 
Week
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Coaching 
Report

T
he South Africa Sports Confederation and Olympic 

Committee (SASCOC) intensified its focus on 

coaching in the country during the period in 

review when its President, Mr Gideon Sam and 

Sports Minister Fikile Mbalula, signed off and launched the 

coaching framework initiative that is set to revolutionise 

South African sport. “We believe this coaching framework 

is the way forward as it will create an effective sport 

system, especially at school level. Racism and gender 

racism is a big problem that is overlooked, and this can 

also be resolved with this coaching intervention. We strive 

for optimal performance and want to be successful in 

international competitions. This is the process needed to 

achieve that” Minister Mbalula remarked at the time. 

The coaching framework plan is thus a development 

scheme aimed at strengthening sport programmes by 

educating and training coaches and setting up proper 

structures across all codes of sport, and Cricket South 

Africa is at the forefront of the programme, serving 

on both SASCOC’s Coaches Commission and the 

Implementation Group that is responsible for putting the 

SA Coaching Framework into practice. 

SaSCoC SporT SpECiFiC LTaD/LTpD projECT &  

Sa CoaChing FramEworK

CSA was also one of 14 National Federations involved 

in the first wave of SASCOC’s Long Term Participant 

Development project. The LTPD model delivers on the 

strategic objectives of the CSA plan and at a media 

briefing on 16th November, our publication titled “Long 

Term Participant Development Programme – from 

Grassroots to Proteas” was launched. In addition to this 

glossy and comprehensive booklet, a smaller and more 

practical ‘LTPD – General Guide for Cricket’ was produced 

early in the new year and I am delighted to report 

that both books are considered by SASCOC to be the 

benchmark and are being used as a kind of ‘blueprint ‘for 

the other sporting codes. 

During 2005, the CSA Coaches Academy reviewed its 

coaching course structures, curricula and syllabi as well 

as the various resources and training manuals and with 

the permission of the England and Wales Cricket Board 

(ECB), adopted and incorporated the basic principles and 

disciplines of LTPD into its own coaching framework at 

the time. 

It was thus a natural extension of this initial step, for 

CSA to align itself with the SASCOC LTPD procedure and 

develop a more comprehensive development framework 

that has been adapted from the Canadian Sport for Life 

Long-Term Athlete Development model. Essentially, LTPD 

is a philosophy; a paradigm shift in sport and coaching 

and it is based on the concept of Physical Literacy, which is 

one of its key goals.

Physical Literacy can be defined as the mastery of 

fundamental movement and fundamental sport skills, 

and provides the foundation for Life-long Physical Activity 

and High Performance Sports. “A physically literate 

person moves with poise, economy and confidence 

in a wide variety of physically challenging situations, 

and is perceptive in reading all aspects of the physical 

environment.  He/she anticipates the movement needs or 

possibilities, and responds appropriately with intelligence 

and imagination” (Whitehead, 2001). 

 

Another significant factor of LTPD is that it exploits the 

sensitive periods of accelerated adaptation to training 

during pre-puberty, puberty and early post-puberty; 

it is a tool for change, a culture change in sport. The 

Canadian-based Long Term Athlete Development 

model is based on the theory that coaches and parents 

should identify and consider each participant’s stage 

of physiological, mental/cognitive and emotional 

development when developing his/her optimal training, 

“One of the greatest gifts we can give to another 

generation is our experience, our wisdom”.

Archbishop Desmond Tutu
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competition and recovery programme.  It is fully inclusive 

in that the principles which underpin LTPD are equally 

applicable to people of all ages and abilities, whether 

they are participating in elite sport or recreational 

physical activity. 

The belief behind Long Term Athlete Development is that 

it takes 8-12 years of training and practice for a player to 

reach elite levels and that success comes from training, 

practising and competing well over the long term rather 

than focusing on winning in the short term. There is no 

short cut to success in player preparation! 

The LTPD model provides the rational justification 

for enhancing our current structure but it can also 

provide some solutions to any weaknesses in the 

system that may be identified. Development of talent 

must always look beyond the short-term and plan for 

the future. 

Sports can be classified as either early or late 

specialisation and cricket falls into the latter category. 

Late specialisation consists of 7 stages, the first 3 of which 

encourage physical literacy and sport for all: 

1. Active Start

2. FUNdamentals

3. Learning to Train

The next 3 focus on excellence, namely:

4. Training to Train

5. Training to Compete

6. Training to Win

The final stage encourages life-long physical activity:

7. Active for life

South Africa recognises these stages of LTPD and applies 

the guiding principles and disciplines to its various 

training, competition and recovery programmes. 

The challenge for CSA is to ensure that the coaches, 

teachers, officials and administrators at the respective 

affiliates and associates, implement these LTPD principles 

and continuously monitor our participant development 

programmes. 

The coaching department is essentially responsible for:

	 The CSA Coaches Academy, the main objective 

of which is to coordinate and control the 

training, qualification, certification and continued 

development of cricket coaches in the country; as 

well as 

	 The annual National Cricket Academy programme, 

an intensive and comprehensive 4-month off-season 

elite player training and development programme. 

 

The specific activities of both these ‘Academies’ impact 

directly on aspects of the strategic plan such as:

– winning teams;

– capacity building and skills development through the 

High Performance Programme;

– becoming leaders in scientific and sports research;

– making cricket accessible to all;

– ongoing skills development through comprehensive 

training programmes (players & coaches);

– helping provide a clear path from grassroots to 

Proteas;

–  holistic coaching programmes;

– uniformity and standardised training across the 

country;

– creating windows of opportunity for players and 

coaches alike;

– to ensure retention of players and administrators in 

the system;

– making use of all available human and material 

resources and ensuring equity in employment;

– unified messages and monitoring transformation in 

the game; 

– special focus on the advancement of Black Africans;

– building and promoting sound stakeholder relations;

– promoting heroes and developing role models;

– making cricket the sport of choice. 

CoaChES aCaDEmY

Coach Education is a critical aspect of Game 

Development and it is therefore regarded as one of the 

priority areas/issues of South African Cricket. Some of the 

aims of the Academy are to: 

	 keep abreast with the latest technical developments 

taking place in other cricketing countries in order to 

update South Africa’s coaching system;

	 monitor the criteria of the various coaching course 

levels in order to maintain uniformity; 

Train to Win

Train to CompeteSport for Life

Train to Train

Learn to Train

FUNdamentalsPhysical Literacy

Active start
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	 broaden the base by coaching new coaches; and 

	 supply quality coaches to the system.

This Academy is managed in consultation with the 

Provincial Coaching Managers who are employed 

by the respective affiliates/associates. The Coaching 

Managers’ forum convenes at least twice a year 

to discuss and report on the various coaching 

programmes and initiatives that have been introduced 

and that support the key cornerstones of the CSA 

Strategy. In addition to conducting the regional 

coaching courses, the coaching managers are expected 

to implement and steer the following aspects in their 

provinces/regions, namely: 

– provincial coaching associations;

– monthly/regular regional coaching forums;

– coaching newsletters;

– approval of private academies;

– establishing a coaching library and dissemination of 

information;

–  creation and maintenance of a provincial coaching 

database;

–  an annual coaching calendar.

This forum identified and highlighted the following 5 

focus areas for 2011/12 subsequent to its meeting at the 

annual CSA Conference in September, namely: 

– improved efficiency & full compliance with CSA/ICC 

guidelines;

– the proposed SA Coaching Framework as per the 

SASCOC Status Report dated July 2011;

– providing the necessary support to the SA U19 coach 

& programme, with a view towards the ICC U19 World 

Cup in Australia in August 2012;

– taking greater responsibility to further develop 

coaches in the respective regions;

– continued monitoring of identified players returning 

from the National Cricket Academy.

FormaL Training/CoaChing CoUrSES 

During the 2011/12 financial year, the CSA office 

received results for 58 Level I and 14 Level II 
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coaching courses conducted by the affiliates/associates.  

A total of 1074 candidates attended these regional 

courses of which 861 were certified, representing a pass/

success rate of ± 80.17%. 

The annual Level III course (senior certificate) was held 

at the hpc from 14th to 18th September 

and 30 provincial candidates were invited, 

the largest group in the past 5 years. Of real 

significance was that there were 10 Black 

African coaches amongst this group – a number of 

these coaches were members of past SA U19 squads and/

or National Academy intakes – and that is an extremely 

pleasing and encouraging sign. 

The 2012 version of the coaching resource CD was 

completed and distributed to the affiliates, together with 

the revised syllabi and updated course guidelines, criteria, 

regulations and standardised templates.

The CSA office conducted course presenters’ workshops/

training sessions at the respective affiliates and associates 

during a national road-show in March and April, to 

discuss the course procedures and revised material with 

the relevant course presenters and assistants and to 

ensure standardisation and uniformity in course delivery. 

This follows the ICC Assessor and Presenter 

training that was held back 

in 2010. 
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ConTinUED DEVELopmEnT

The Coaches Academy however, also focuses on the 

continued development of qualified, certified coaches 

with the emphasis on improving the ‘soft skills’ of 

coaches. Quite simply, quality coaches will produce 

quality cricketers and it is imperative that the standard 

of coaches and coaching in general is constantly 

improved.

	 CAP camps (coaches’ acceleration programme):

 This programme was originally introduced in 2009 

and the 5th CAP Camp was held at the HPC for the 

junior provincial U17 & U19 coaches from 3rd to 5th 

April and a number of the affiliates have now followed 

suit and introduced similar initiatives in their own 

provinces; 

	 Coaching Forums & Mentors:

 Forums were again held for the provincial age-

group coaches at the various national tournaments 

during December, the 10th consecutive year 

that this has taken place, while ‘mentors’ were 

appointed for the 4th year running to assist the 

junior provincial coaches at the annual cricket weeks 

again. In conjunction with the Youth & Schools 

department, the affiliates have been requested to 

ensure that coaches of their provincial age-group 

squads have a Level III qualification as a minimum 

requirement. 

	 KFC Seminars:

 “Coach in Action” presentations were carried out for 

coaches who attended the annual KFC National 

Seminar that was held in Mpumalanga from 3rd to 

6th July, as well as for those provincial delegates 

who attended the Northerns and Gauteng provincial 

seminars. 

	 Rural/Regional Forums:

 With the special focus on Black Africans in mind, 

additional coaching forums were held during 

the April Talent ID road-show of the Border 

rural areas in Middeldrift, Alice, Healdtown and 

Queenstown. 

 

CoaCh aCCrEDiTaTion – pEFormax 

managEmEnT SYSTEm

The development of the Peformax Management 

coaching component and its functionalities is well-

advanced and training in the use of the system 

commenced at the CAP Camp held for junior age-group 

coaches in April – this should ultimately contribute 

significantly to greater efficiency in the management 

and reporting of coaching matters and the coaches 

themselves.

naTionaL programmES: praCTiCaL Training 

opporTUniTiES For DEVELoping CoaChES

Cricket South Africa utilises its various Elite Player 

Development programmes to assist with the personal 

growth and development of identified provincial 

coaches. The SA U19, the National Cricket Academy 

and the High Performance programmes are considered 

to be ideal opportunities to appoint regional coaches 

to work extensively with more senior, experienced 

professional coaches and expose the younger coaches 

to international competition. This obviously includes 

accompanying such representative national teams or 

squads on overseas tours that in turn introduce them 

to foreign playing styles and conditions. This similarly 

applies to the SA Women’s team commitments and 

events.

 

The SA U19 international programme comprises both 

‘home and away’ series, triangular competitions and of 

course the bi-annual ICC U19 World Cup Tournament, 

but the relatively new U17 & U19 Talent Acceleration 

Programme has provided additional opportunities for 

the appointment of 6 regional scouts and ‘Franchise’ 

Cubs’ Week coaches. Furthermore, CSA attempts to 

promote progression along the international participation 

levels too and the coaches who assist the National U19 

Coach during a particular series or at a World Cup event 

are normally invited to attend the winter Academy 

programme before perhaps advancing to the coaching 

staff of either the Emerging, SA ‘A’ or National Women’s 

squads. 

naTionaL CriCKET aCaDEmY

The 2011 National Cricket Academy squad completed its 

winter training programme and stay at the hpc on 26th 

August. The activities again focused on individualised 

strength training and conditioning, the enhancement 

of cricket specific skills (including technical and tactical 

awareness), general life skills and sport science and 

medicine interventions. 

This group proved to be a remarkable bunch of young 

cricketers and it wasn’t long before another name was 

added to the Academy’s ever-growing ‘Wall of Fame’ as 

Marchant de Lange literally burst onto the international 

stage with an incredible debut Test Match performance 

for the Proteas against the visiting Sri Lankans less than 4 

months after leaving the Academy! This was just reward 

for an incredible effort on his part following an intensive 

and strict 8-week rehabilitation programme to address a 

threatening back-related injury. Much is expected from 
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this particular group of young cricketers and we will be 

following their progress with keen interest in the season/s 

ahead. 

As part of the preparation for the return series against 

the visiting Bangladesh Academy squad, the National 

Academy hosted the KZN Academy & Bidvest Highveld 

Lions squads at the hpc during late July and early August. 

The ‘home’ series against our Bangladesh counterparts 

consisted of 2 x 4-day matches, 3 ‘ODI’s’ as well as a couple 

of T20 games. With the assistance of Zed Ndamane of GCB 

and Edward Khoza at NCU, these matches were hosted 

at the following club grounds in Johannesburg and 

Pretoria; Elkah Stadium, Soweto; Lenasia Oval; Sinoville 

CC; Laudium Oval and LC de Villiers (hpc). Our squad 

performed exceptionally well and recorded a ‘clean-

sweep’ in the three series; 1-nil in the 4-Day, 2-1 in the 

ODI’s and 2-0 in the T20’s! The results were all the more 

remarkable given the problems round injuries to key 

squad members and having 2 players away in Australia 

with the Emerging Squad for the majority of the Academy 

series. 

Traditional ‘Red Caps’ (honours) for centuries or five-

wicket hauls were awarded to Christiaan Schoeman, 

Dominic Hendricks, Dane Paterson, Siyabulela Simetu, 

Samuel Mofokeng, Marchant de Lange, Lenert van 

Wyk and Hardus Viljoen (the latter on the April tour of 

Bangladesh before his withdrawal in June due to a back 

injury). 

The squad was once again coached most professionally 

by Ray Jennings, who was ably assisted in the technical 

issues by Malibongwe Maketa, Chris van Noordwyk 

and fitness trainer Greg King, and a host of extremely 

competent specialists in their chosen fields of mental 

conditioning and psychology, physiotherapy, sports 

nutrition, visual skills, sports law and career planning. 

This particular overview started with a most appropriate 

quote from our very own Archbishop Desmond Tutu, 

whose words of wisdom provide an extremely simple 

description of the gift and role of coaching. To conclude 

the 2011/12 coaching report, I would like to quote the 

following few paragraphs from a book by the world-

renowned former athletics coach, motivational speaker 

and President of the European Athletics Coaches 

Association, Dr Frank Dick OBE: 

 
anton Ferreira

Manager: Coaching 

“To achieve beyond our individual isolated 

capabilities we need others – we all know 

this but it is difficult and complex to achieve 

in reality. It is as if each of us is like a player-

coach. One moment we are coachable, 

soaking up the lessons of our life experiences 

and coached by those who will make sure the 

lessons are not only learned but translated 

into action. The next moment we are passing 

on what we have learned and coaching those 

who need our help to be different, to be better, 

to win. 

Sometimes coaching is about learning how 

to exercise good judgement to be most 

effective in our decision making, to add 

quality to our life and to the community to 

which we belong within the framework of 

rules that shape our behaviour and culture. 

Sometimes coaching is learning skills, being 

fit and tactically wise; or about competing 

within the accepted rules. 

Coaching is of course a learning conduit, so it 

is important to prepare to learn fast through 

regular review and monitoring. A critical aspect 

of planning and preparation concerns creating 

the environment that makes it possible for us to 

perform at our best. 

Just as our coaches built roads and bridges 

through what was for them unchartered 

wilderness so that we would have a better life 

than they, so must we for the next generations. 

That means not only making a winning 

difference for the moments around us now, 

but having the courage to face major issues 

like culture change when we know that having 

started the process of change we may not see it 

completed in our time. 

We must therefore develop and apply our 

leadership skills to greater effect and grow to be 

the leaders we must be to create change. Making 

the right decisions is the hallmark of quality 

leaders”. 

From “Winning Matters” by Frank Dick
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High Performance 
Programme

I
n line with the HPP Strategy for the period 2011 to 

2012; this document reports on key deliverables set 

out in the 2012 High Performance Strategic Plan 

document.

A comprehensive structure for the monitoring of national 

contracted and identified HP players was presented 

at the Stakeholder’s Meeting in January 2012 

and was put in place from 1st of May 2012.

This included the fitness monitoring of all 

identified players for the HP programme and is 

being implemented by HP Strength & Conditioning 

consultant, Greg King in conjunction with all Franchise 

trainers. This process is currently in place and the players 

have been identified, selected and contacted with regard 

to their inclusion in the programme.

The mental coaching plan is in place and ready to 

be implemented during the winter programme with 

some interventions having already taken place during 

the 2011/12 cricket season. Individualised fitness 

programmes started 1st of May 2012, with regional visits 

starting on the 1st of June 2012. Monitoring will be done 

through Performax.

A core group of coaching specialists have been identified 

and contracted for the 2012/3 financial year for the 

purposed of providing interventions where required. 

These specialist consultants will service the whole 

structure in which the HP identified players are playing 

and will be used within the winter programmes and tours 

as the need arises. 

A key deliverable for the High Performance Programme 

is bridging the gap between franchise and international 

cricket and this is achieved through a number of planned 

Emerging Players’  Tours.

The Emerging Players Tour to Australia in 2011 provided 

the players with an opportunity to compete at 

international level.

Thami Tsolekile 
during the match 
between SA “A” 
and Sri Lanka “A”
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Prior to leaving on Emerging Players Tour (EPT) of 

Australia, the HPP held a 4 day camp at the High 

Performance Centre (HPC) in Pretoria. The camp included 

fitness testing, skills preparation, mental preparation 

and ended with T20 and 1 day matches against the 

CSA Academy. On this tour, we contracted the services 

of consultants, HD Ackerman and Paul Adams, Greg 

King (Fitness) and Henning Gerricke (Psychology) who 

provided valuable input into the camp. 

After landing in Brisbane we had 1 day of preparation 

and acclimatisation, before playing our T20 1st match 

against Australia. This was followed by a double header 

the following day against India and New Zealand, in 

which we fielded twelve players. South Africa beat 

Australia and India but lost to NZ. We lost the T20 

competition on run rate. Two days later SA beat NZ by 

5 wickets in a 1-day match (50 overs – all 15 players 

allowed to play).

Our 1st 3-day match against India two days later was 

played at the AB field in Brisbane. We were allowed to 

play 12 players, which was perfect as we could rotate the 

squad and rest some of the guys. We drew the match.

The tournament then moved to Townsville, North of 

Brisbane where we played two more 3-day matches 

against Australia and New Zealand. We drew both 

matches, although we nearly beat Australia by an 

innings.

The SA “A”  Tour to Zimbabwe followed a good 4-day 

camp at the High Performance Centre in Pretoria. Being 

winter, most of the cricketers did not even have 

any outdoor nets, so it was going to be hard work 

getting the boys ready and prepared for this tour. 

HP Consultants, HD Ackerman, Lance Klusener and 

Shafiek Abrahams once again provided valuable input at 

the camp.

The warmer climate of Harare was welcomed. 

Facilities were great and our preparation for the tough 

triangular got underway immediately. Our 1st game 

against Australia didn’t go very well and we lost badly. 

However, as the tour progressed so did their skills and 

performance. The boys quickly acclimatised, assessed the 

conditions better and played accordingly. We played 5 

games, which included the final; two versus Zimbabwe 

which we won and two versus Australia  “A”  which we 

lost. We qualified for the final and lost by 3 runs to 

Australia  “A” .

A strong SA “A”  team assembled in Potchefstroom 

for a warm up game against the touring Australian 

team. An unusually green, soft wicket greeted us 

and in spite of that captain Alviro Petersen decided 

to bat. We lost the captain early on and the batters 

had to battle in tough conditions. SA “A”  scored 183 

with Elgar the top scorer with a hardworking 47 in 

the Australian innings. Young Marchant de Lange 

announced himself on the big stage with 5/56. He 

bowled with good pace and bounce and unsettled 

the Aussie batsmen and got good support from 

Wayne Parnell and Vernon Philander.

In the SA “A”  2nd innings Alviro Petersen launched his 

campaign to win re-election to the Proteas side with a 

wonderful 103. He was well supported by Thami Tsolekile 

(58). On a wicket that got better to bat on once the sun 

came out, Australia chased 214 to win. Australia won by 7 

wickets.

The SA “A”  team will tour Ireland in August 2012. 

A Comprehensive selection process has been 

implemented to ensure the SA “A”  team compliments 

the Proteas whilst they are touring in England. The SA 

“A”  team will also play Sri Lanka “A”  in South Africa and 

compete in a Triangular Series in Zimbabwe between 

the hosts and Sri Lanka “A”  as part of the strategy to 

develop our players and expose them to international 

competition.

To support CSA’s commitment to improving 

communication between various cricket  
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structures, a workshop for all franchise coaches was  

held on the 2nd of April 2012. This workshop also 

provided an opportunity for HPP to get feedback 

on various matters concerning the 2011/12 season, 

suggestions for the 2012/13 season and also on the 

implementation of some of the HP strategy objectives 

and programmes. Minutes of this workshop were 

circulated to all relevant parties and recommendations 

have been made to various decision-making bodies 

within CSA, and subsequently presented to the Cricket 

Committee meeting of 25th of April 2012.

Research continues to play an important role in ensuring 

South African cricket remains at the forefront of 

international best practise, methodology and technology. 

CSA appointed Janine Gray as our research consultant. 

Janine will co-ordinate and direct all research projects 

of CSA and whilst she is also part of the CSA Medical 

Committee, she will be reporting to the HP department 

on research projects.

The performance analysis system “22 yards” introduced 

during this 2011/12 season to analyse the opposition 

and our own performance, has not gone without its 

challenges. The challenges however lie not in the quality 

of the system or in the wealth of information it provides 

but rather in the consistency and accuracy of the data 

that gets inputted. This problem is compounded by the 

lack of consistency in personnel. This means that we need 

to look at how we can improve matters in order to get the 

best value from a very comprehensive system. The High 

Performance Department have started a process where 

CSA are looking to centralise and develop the franchise 

analysts and by doing so create a career opportunity and 

clear path for them to become the national team analyst 

in the future.

The Performax athlete management system has also 

been introduced and compliance has been the biggest 

challenge. The challenge is three-fold, namely, the player/

coach buy in, administrator buy in and system errors. A 

plan to address these issues is currently in progress and 

with the face of professional sport changing daily we 

hope that this athlete and performance management 

system will go a long way to ensure that we as CSA can 

become world leaders in this area.

On the recommendation of the High Performance 

Management, CSA appointed a Consultant whose 

specific focus will be on increasing the base of talented 

Black African cricketers. This consultant will support 

and monitor players within the semi-professional and 

franchise system. It is his responsibility to be the link 

between the player, his coach and the HP support staff. 

The consultant should be regarded as a support link and 

this appointment doesn’t at all dilute the importance 

of the coach/player relationship but rather to support, 

mediate and facilitate the process of development of 

such a cricketer.

Access to a dedicated High Performance Centre is 

critical in order for South African cricket to retain its 

position as a leading cricketing nation and compete 

at the same level as other successful international 

teams. The HPP is currently embarked on an ongoing 

process of information gathering with the view to 

presenting a comprehensive business plan for a 

dedicated High Performance Centre to the CSA Board 

for approval. This Centre of Excellence is crucial to 

the effective running of the cricket pipeline and its 

HP programmes as well as giving access to franchise 

and affiliate teams to be exposed to quality coaching, 

high-tech coaching equipment and the latest 

technology. 

Two Merlyn Spin bowling machines were purchased 

by the HP department and introduced during the 

2011/12 season. The machines were transported 

around the country to help the National team in their 

preparation against the touring Sri Lanka team. At the 

same time the franchise players benefitted from the 

equipment and were exposed to it. The machines will 

now be brought back to the HPC for the HP winter 

programme.

This 2011/12 season has truly been a ground breaking 

season. Apart from the obvious successes on the field it 

was the season where the High Performance strategy was 

born and a structure developed that will be implemented 

in the 2012/13 season. CSA HP is confident that with the 

already well established relationship with the franchises 

and the affiliates, this structure can truly compliment 

the excellent work already been done in developing our 

human capital in order for cricket to become a national 

sport of winners.

Vincent Barnes

High Performance Manager
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Dean Elgar 
in action
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Nashua Titans prove themselves 
worthy champion franchise

T
he 2011/12 professional domestic season almost 

split itself in two halves as the Nashua Mobile Cape 

Cobras threatened a total monopoly of all the 

available silverware and then lost ground to the 

Nashua Titans who came down the finishing straight like 

the pedigree champions they turned out to be.

When the Cobras won the first trophy to be decided 

– the One-Day Cup in early December in an excellent 

final against the Chevrolet Warriors – they became the 

first franchise to hold all three trophies at the same 

time following their successes in the four-day and T20 

competitions the previous season.

They were also the front runners in the SuperSport Series 

at that stage but in the end an inability to win their home 

matches, including the decisive one against the Titans 

towards the back end of the competition cost them dearly.

The Nashua Titans got stronger and stronger as the season 

progressed and they matched the Cobras in contributing 

a significant number of players to the national cause. In 

this context they were fortunate in that their national 

representatives were split between the Proteas’ Castle 

Lager Test and ODI squads. The result was that they never 

lost all their national representatives at the same time.

Good planning can, of course, surmount obstacles but 

the Cobras were not to know at the season’s start that 

they would lose their bowling kingpin, Vernon Philander, 

for such a large part of their various campaigns. It is 

something they will have to live with going forward as 

his future appearances for the Cobras are likely to be 

as limited as those of other senior Test players such as 

Jacques Kallis, Mark Boucher, Graeme Smith and Dale 

Steyn. He did take 25 wickets in the five SuperSport Series 

matches in which he participated which underlined his 

absence even more.

As it was the Cobras ran into something of a crisis in the 

fast bowling department towards season’s end, even 

calling up veteran Charl Willoughby as a Kolpak player for 

one match as they lost most of their attack for a variety of 

reasons.

Nashua Titans 
celebrate winning 
the SuperSport Series
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Having taken the lead from the Cobras on the SuperSport 

Series log after winning their head-to-head clash at Paarl, 

the Titans then suffered the agonising experience of 

having a total wash-out at East London but, fortunately 

for them, the Cobras were not able to capitalise in their 

corresponding home fixture against the Chevrolet Knights.

In the final round the Titans annihilated an inexperienced 

Sunfoil Dolphins side almost in two days while the Cobras 

were held at bay by the bizhub Highveld Lions at the 

Bidvest Wanderers Stadium. 

It meant that the Titans took the trophy by the convincing 

margin of almost 13 points and they fully deserved 

it as they scored five outright victories to the four of 

the Cobras. It was an enthralling finish to a first-class 

competition that lived up to the best standards with four 

of the franchises still having a chance of taking the trophy 

going into the last few rounds.

The Titans had a disappointingly one-sided victory over 

the Lions in the final of the MiWay T20 Challenge at the 

Bidvest Wanderers Stadium, winning by 45 runs. The 

Lions, having topped the log, had gained direct entry into 

the final and, with their last league match having been 

washed out, they had not played any competitive cricket 

for a good two weeks.

The Titans by contrast had the momentum of coming back 

from the dead in their play-off match against the Knights 

and they were battle hardened and ready for the action 

when it really counted. They also took the tough decision 

to leave out their Proteas returning from New Zealand and, 

although brave, this turned out to be a correct move.

If the famous 438 game is the finest ODI this country has 

ever seen then much the same applies to the play-off 

MiWay T20 Challenge match as the best T20 game. The 

Knights looked just about home and dry when the Titans 

needed 13 to win off the last over with Alfonso Thomas, 

not a renowned big hitter, the senior batsman at the 

crease. In addition, Jandre Coetzee, one of the most 

Rilee Rossouw 
during the 2012 
MiWay T20 
Challenge
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successful bowlers in this season’s competition, had the 

ball. But Thomas managed to hit two sixes, including one 

off the last ball, to earn a tie

If Thomas had not done enough already he then 

proceeded to bowl one of the greatest super overs of all 

time to give the Titans a large margin of victory compared 

with what had gone before.

The Titans’ players obviously deserve full credit for finishing 

the season as Cricket South Africa’s (CSA) Champion 

Franchise but a lot of credit must also go to those who 

had the vision to appoint Matthew Maynard as coach and 

Martin van Jaarsveld as captain. Maynard, in particular, 

could bring a totally independent view of the strengths 

and weaknesses of his squad and of the problems that had 

caused them to fall at the final hurdle the previous season.

There was no doubt that the entire squad flourished 

under his direction and produced consistently good 

performances in a comfortable environment.

There was hardly a squad member who did not make 

a significant contribution but there were some special 

efforts which included Farhaan Behardien having an 

average of 66 and a strike rate in excess of 140 in the 

MiWay T20 Challenge.

In the SuperSport Series Rowan Richards went almost 

from zero to hero in taking 26 wickets at an average of 20. 

Jacques Rudolph made more than 600 runs in the first six 

matches and, when he went off on Proteas’ duty, they had 

a returning Faf du Plessis scoring 600 runs in four matches 

with the season’s top average of 85.57.

Behardien was one of several players rewarded with 

Proteas’ selection. In his case it is amazing that it has taken 

the selectors so long to identify his talent as he has been 

knocking on the door for some time and has displayed 

the important attribute of being able to finish off major 

matches.

Justin Ontong of the Cobras also returned to the green 

and gold after performing well in all three competitions 

and there were first-time call-ups for Richard Levi and 

Dane Vilas of the Cobras as well as Marchant de Lange of 

the Titans.

Vilas produced the SuperSport Series performance of 

the season when he played an innings of 187 against 

the Knights at the De Beers Diamond Oval that included 

Alfonso Thomas 
during the 2012 
MiWay T20 
Challenge
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a remarkable rescue partnership of 257 with Robbie 

Peterson (he got 97) and then was responsible for 10 

dismissals (all caught) behind the stumps.

It was the first instance in the history of first-class cricket 

of a wicketkeeper playing an innings of more than 150 

and making 10 dismissals.

At season’s end came the news that the Cobras have 

not renewed Herschelle Gibbs’ contract although they 

have not ruled out making use of the T20 global traveller 

if circumstances and form permit. Gibbs has royally 

entertained the faithful at Sahara Park Newlands and 

indeed the whole cricketing world for the past 16 years 

and he leaves behind many heart-throbbing memories.

There will be major changes on the franchise coaching 

front next summer as Richard Pybus has resigned from 

the Cobras and Graham Ford left the Dolphins in mid-

stream to pursue his international career with Sri Lanka. It 

is indeed a feather in the domestic game’s cap that there 

are currently three international coaches working around 

the world (Ford, Duncan Fletcher with India and Mickey 

Arthur with Australia) who cut their coaching teeth in the 

South African domestic system.

There may be other changes too. CSA’s Cricket 

Committee is conducting a review of the franchise 

system although any changes in this area are likely 

to be too late for the 2012/13 season. They also 

have to consider the future of the New Age 

Impi who were the seventh team in the 

MiWay T20 Challenge. They had predictably 

little success as a team but the very fact 

that one of their number, Khaya Zondo, 

scored the competition’s only century 

justified their participation on its 

own.

The changes made to the 

limited overs competitions 

in terms of 

power 

plays, 

number 

of overs and 

the qualification 

route to the final through 

either finishing top of the log or winning the one-off 

play-off match were huge successes and are certain to be 

retained.

Faf du Plessis of Nashua 
Titans pulls a delivery 
during the 2012 MiWay 
T20 Challenge



40

Proteas
Report

T
he various Proteas’ squads finished the period under 

review (the three-match Test series against England 

in July and August, 2012) with an unprecedented 

record of success across all formats, both as a team 

and as individuals.

The Proteas have gained the No. 1 ICC ranking in 

Test match cricket for the first time since 2009 – the 

only other time this occurred was in 2003 – and are a 

solid three points ahead of England and four ahead 

of Australia; they are level on points with England 

at the top of the ODI rankings but drop down to 

second place when the rating is calculated to the third 

decimal point; and hold the top ranking in the recently 

introduced T20 rankings with England again in second 

place.

Much the same applies to the individual rankings with 

Hashim Amla ranked No. 1 in ODI batting and No. 2 in Test 

match batting. Dale Steyn is the No. 1 ranked Test match 

bowler and Lonwabo Tsotsobe the No. 1 ranked ODI 

bowler. Both Jacques Kallis (currently the No. 4 ranked Test 

match batsman) and AB de Villiers (the No. 5 ranked Test 

match batsman and the No. 3 ranked ODI batsman) both 

held the No. 1 Test match rankings at earlier stages of the 

period under review.

Vernon Philander in his first year of Test cricket has soared 

up the rankings to No. 2 behind Steyn while Graeme 

Smith is ranked No. 7 Test match batsman and Morne 

Morkel the No. 9 ranked Test match bowler and the No. 4 

ranked ODI bowler.

Philander’s statistics have been phenomenal. He achieved 

what no other player has done in the past 100 plus years 

in taking 51 wickets in only seven Test matches. This 

included two 10-wicket hauls and he now has seven five-

wicket hauls.

Kallis is ranked No. 2 in the all-rounder category and 

remarkably Philander has already moved up to No. 7 in 

this category.

But it is inevitably the No. 1 Team Test ranking which 

is most significant. Until the official World Test 

Championship play-off starts in 2017 this is the effective 

Test match crown.

The Proteas have played seven Tests this year against Sri 

Lanka, New Zealand and England (six of them away from 

home) and won four and drawn three. The latter three 

might also have been won but for weather interference.

There has been steady growth in the team’s fortunes 

under the new leadership team headed by Gary Kirsten 

with the captaincy shared between Smith (Test matches) 

and De Villiers (both limited overs formats).

This can be seen by what happened towards the end of 

last year when Kirsten first took charge when there was a 

drawn home Test series against Australia, accompanied by 

an ODI series loss and a drawn T20 series, and a first ever 

home Test match defeat against Sri Lanka although both 

this series and the ODI series that followed were won.

There is clearly a whole new attitude at work with the 

players being challenged to accept responsibility for their 

own performances and to stare straight back down the 

barrel when the pressure is at its greatest. In this latter 

regard the Proteas were seen at their best during the 

Test series in England when they won virtually all the big 

points. It has also been reflected by the quality of their 

cricket which has always been positive and aggressive 

and where defeat or even a draw has not been on any 

kind of agenda.

This was particularly obvious against England at Leeds 

when the weather had made the draw the most likely 

outcome but Smith and Kirsten still tried to press for a 

positive outcome and were not far off that mark when 

time was called.

The selection committee under Andrew Hudson also 

played its role by staying true to a policy of consistency 

and of rewarding outstanding domestic form which 
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resulted in successful introductions into international 

cricket for Philander, Marchant de Lange and Richard 

Levi. The appointment of Corrie van Zyl as CSA General 

Manager: Cricket has also filled an important gap in the 

talent pipeline structure. Together with coach Vinnie Barnes 

and Coaching Education Manager Anton Ferreira it gives 

CSA a very strong team at the High Performance Centre.

There were also successful international recalls for Jacques 

Rudolph and Justin Ontong and the home season 

season ended with a further three new caps in Farhaan 

Behardien, Dane Vilas and Dean Elgar.

      Nothing summed up better the way the Proteas’  

      playing resources have grown than the perception at  

    the start of the season that there was a lack of depth in 

the fast bowling department and that there would be a 

serious problem if either Dale Steyn or Morne Morkel got 

injured.

By the season’s end the only concern was how to find 

places for all the available talent in the starting XI! The fact 

of the matter is that only England can currently match the 

fast bowling depth available to the Proteas.

To round the picture off Levi achieved the treble in his 

second ever T20 International against New Zealand of 

the highest ever score (117), the fastest century and the 

greatest number of sixes in an innings.

In addition, Amla, De Villiers, Kallis and Steyn were all 

named in the ICC official Test XI for 2011.

As far as the 2012 ICC awards are concerned both Amla 

and Philander have been nominated for the ICC Cricketer 

of the Year award (the prestigious Sir Garfield Sobers 

Trophy) while there are five Proteas nominations for ICC 

Test Cricketer of the Year: Amla, Philander, Kallis, De Villiers 

and Steyn.

Morkel has been nominated for the ODI Cricketer of the 

Year and Levi for the T20 International performance of the 

Year.

Finally, and very importantly, Kallis and De Villiers have 

both been nominated for the Spirit of Cricket award.

Proteas track record for the past year:

Test matches: played 11, won 6, lost 2, drawn 3

ODI: played 11, won 7, lost 4

T20: played 6, won 4, lost 2

Vernon Philander 
bowls during 
the Investec Test 
match between 
England and 
South Africa
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SA International Milestones
1 September 2011 to 13 September 2012

TEST CriCKET

CSA Milestone Programme achievements:

platinum None

gold Graeme Smith 100 Tests v England (The Oval)

Silver AB de Villiers 75 Tests v England (The Oval)

 AB de Villiers 5 000 runs v Sri Lanka (Durban)

Bronze Dale Steyn 50 Tests v Sri Lanka (Durban)

 Hashim Amla 4 000 runs v Australia (Cape Town)

 Hashim Amla 50 catches v Sri Lanka (Durban)

other Jacques Kallis 150 Tests v Sri Lanka (Cape Town)

 Jacques Kallis 12 000 runs v Australia (Johannesburg)

 Graeme Smith 8 000 runs v New Zealand (Wellington)

records

Mark Boucher equaled his own South African record 
when he took 6 dismissals (all ct) in an innings 
during the Test against Sri Lanka at Centurion.

Jacques Kallis equaled the South African record of 
4 catches in an innings and 6 catches in a match 
against Sri Lanka at Cape Town.

Vernon Philander took his 50th wicket in his 7th Test, 
making him the quickest to reach this milestone for 
South Africa, beating Peter Pollock’s record of 9.

Hashim Amla made the highest Test score for South 
Africa when he scored 311* v England at The Oval, 
passing the previous record of 278* by AB de Villiers 
v Pakistan at Abu Dhabi in 2010/11.

AB de Villiers passed Mark Boucher’s South African 
record of 75 consecutive Test appearances when 
he played in his 76th consecutive match against 
England at Leeds.

Graeme Smith captained in a Test match for the 
94th time against England at Lord’s passing Allan 
Border’s world record of 93 captaincies.
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onE-DaY inTErnaTionaLS

CSA Milestone Programme achievements:

platinum Jacques Kallis  125 catches v New Zealand 

 (Napier)

gold None

Silver AB de Villiers  5 000 runs v England  

(Southampton)

Bronze Hashim Amla  3 000 runs v England  

(Southampton)

other None

records

South Africa bowled Sri Lanka out for 43 at Paarl, the 

lowest total made against South Africa passing the 

previous record of 54 by West Indies at Cape Town in 

2003/04.

Hashim Amla reached 3 000 runs in his 57th innings 

against England at Southampton, passing Viv Richards’ 

world record of 69 innings to reach this milestone.

TwEnTY20 inTErnaTionaLS

records

Richard Levi equaled the highest score in Twenty20 

Internationals of 117 by Chris Gayle (WI v SA at 

Johannesburg 2007/08)) when he scored 117* v New 

Zealand at Hamilton. Levi also hit a world record 13 sixes 

in the innings.
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South African Statistics
1 September 2011 to 13 September 2012

MiWay T20 Challenge 2011/12

P W L Tied NR Bonus Penalty Pts Net RR

bizhub Highveld Lions 12 7 2 0 3 3 0 37 1.43

Nashua Titans 12 7 3 0 2 3 0 35 0.39

Chevrolet Knights 12 7 3 1 1 1 0 34 0.40

Sunfoil Dolphins 12 4 3 0 5 0 0 26 -0.19

Nashua Mobile Cape Cobras 12 5 6 1 0 1 0 24 0.03

Chevrolet Warriors 12 4 7 0 1 3 0 21 -0.19

New Age Impi 12 0 10 0 2 0 0 4 -1.70

Semi-final Titans beat Knights on a Super Over

Final Titans beat Lions by 45 runs

Franchise One-day Cup 2011/12

P W L Tied NR Bonus Penalty Pts Net RR

Nashua Mobile Cape Cobras 10 7 1 0 2 1 0 33 0.55

Chevrolet Knights 10 6 4 0 0 3 0 27 0.61

Chevrolet Warriors 10 5 4 0 1 3 0 25 0.76

Sunfoil Dolphins 10 2 4 0 4 0 0 16 -1.33

Nashua Titans 10 3 6 0 1 1 0 15 -0.65

bizhub Highveld Lions 10 2 6 0 2 1 0 13 -0.56

Semi-final Warriors beat Knights by 4 wickets

Final Cape Cobras beat Warriors by 5 wickets

SuperSport Series 2011/12

P W L Tied D Bat Bowl Penalty Pts

Nashua Titans 10 5 3 0 2 40.28 34 0 129.28

Nashua Mobile Cape Cobras 10 4 2 0 4 44.90 32 0 116.90

Chevrolet Knights 10 4 1 0 5 39.52 36 3 112.52

bizhub Highveld Lions 10 3 2 0 5 39.20 32 0 101.20

Chevrolet Warriors 10 2 7 0 1 28.80 28 0 81.80

Sunfoil Dolphins 10 1 4 0 5 31.50 31 0 72.50

Bonus points are awarded an the first 100 overs of each team’s first innings as follows:

Batting: 1 point on reaching 150 and 0.02 points for each run thereafter

Bowling: 1 point for taking 3 wkts, 2 for 5 wkts, 3 for 7 wkts and 4 for 9 wkts.
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South Africa: Test Averages

South Africa played 11 Tests in this period, winning 6, losing 2 and drawing 3.

Batting & Fielding

Name M Inns NO Runs HS Avg 100 50 Ct St

J-P Duminy 4 6 3 271 103 90.33 1 1 2 0

HM Amla 11 18 2 1049 311* 65.56 4 4 10 0

AB de Villiers 11 16 1 877 160* 58.46 1 6 15 0

AN Petersen 7 13 2 615 182 55.90 3 0 4 0

GC Smith 11 20 3 857 131 50.41 3 5 18 0

JH Kallis 10 16 2 694 224 49.57 3 1 21 0

JA Rudolph 11 16 2 520 105* 37.14 1 3 7 0

MV Boucher 8 10 1 203 65 22.55 0 1 33 1

VD Philander 10 11 0 211 61 19.18 0 1 3 0

DW Steyn 11 13 3 188 43 18.80 0 0 2 0

AG Prince 4 6 0 109 50 18.16 0 1 5 0

M Morkel 11 13 3 137 35* 13.70 0 0 5 0

Imran Tahir 10 11 4 78 29* 11.14 0 0 4 0

M de Lange 2 2 0 9 9 4.50 0 0 1 0

Bowling

Name Overs Mdns Runs Wkts Avg BB 5I 10M

VD Philander 348.3 80 1006 63 15.96 6-44 7 2

DW Steyn 401 93 1219 49 24.87 5-56 2 0

M de Lange 74.4 10 277 9 30.77 7-81 1 0

M Morkel 370.1 78 1139 37 30.78 6-23 1 0

Imran Tahir 321.3 40 1045 26 40.19 3-55 0 0

JH Kallis 167.5 40 494 10 49.40 3-35 0 0

J-P Duminy 34 4 102 1 102.00 1-10 0 0

GC Smith 2 0 7 0 - - 0 0
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South Africa: Limited Overs International Averages
South Africa played 16 Limited Overs Internationals in this period, winning 9, losing 6 with 1 no result.

Batting & Fielding

Name M Inns NO Runs HS Avg SR 100 50 Ct St

AB de Villiers 13 12 6 645 125* 107.50 108.58 2 3 23 1

HM Amla 13 12 1 754 150 68.54 88.49 2 5 6 0

DA Miller 3 3 1 81 59 40.50 95.29 0 1 0 0

JH Kallis 7 7 0 271 76 38.71 82.12 0 3 3 0

JA Morkel 7 5 2 103 41 34.33 100.98 0 0 1 0

J Botha 4 4 3 34 25 34.00 94.44 0 0 3 0

J-P Duminy 16 14 2 407 66* 33.91 76.50 0 2 8 0

GC Smith 14 13 0 418 125 32.15 72.56 1 3 4 0

F du Plessis 16 15 2 335 72 25.76 93.05 0 2 9 0

D Elgar 5 4 0 93 42 23.25 58.86 0 0 3 0

AN Petersen 3 3 0 60 37 20.00 82.19 0 0 1 0

WD Parnell 8 5 1 66 27 16.50 83.54 0 0 0 0

MV Boucher 3 3 1 22 13* 11.00 95.65 0 0 3 0

M Morkel 14 3 2 9 7 9.00 64.28 0 0 2 0

CA Ingram 3 2 0 14 13 7.00 116.66 0 0 1 0

DW Steyn 12 4 1 10 5 3.33 45.45 0 0 4 0

LL Tsotsobe 15 2 0 4 4 2.00 40.00 0 0 0 0

R McLaren 3 1 0 1 1 1.00 100.00 0 0 0 0

RJ Peterson 13 4 4 81 31* - 85.26 0 0 9 0

JL Ontong 2 1 1 17 17* - 89.47 0 0 2 0

VD Philander 1 1 1 2 2* - 40.00 0 0 0 0

M de Lange 1 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0

Bowling

Name Overs Mdns Runs Wkts Avg RPO BB 4I

M de Lange 9 1 46 4 11.50 5.11 4-46 1

M Morkel 111.5 8 538 25 21.52 4.81 5-38 3

RJ Peterson 100 3 455 17 26.76 4.55 3-37 0

JH Kallis 31 1 171 6 28.50 5.51 2-17 0

LL Tsotsobe 115.3 6 570 20 28.50 4.93 3-19 0

DW Steyn 99.4 6 470 15 31.33 4.71 2-24 0

D Elgar 16 1 67 2 33.50 4.18 1-11 0

J-P Duminy 48.3 1 243 7 34.71 5.01 2-29 0

VD Philander 6 0 39 1 39.00 6.50 1-39 0

WD Parnell 56.2 2 251 6 41.83 4.45 2-30 0

J Botha 32 1 126 3 42.00 3.93 1-21 0

F du Plessis 11 0 59 1 59.00 5.36 1-8 0

R McLaren 16 1 83 1 83.00 5.18 1-52 0

JA Morkel 23 0 136 0 - 5.91 - 0



47

South Africa Twenty20 International Averages
South Africa played 9 Twenty20 Internationals in this period, winning 5, losing 3 with 1 no result.

Batting & Fielding

Name M Inns NO Runs HS Avg SR 100 50 Ct St

JH Kallis 4 4 3 130 61 130.00 132.65 0 1 1 0

WD Parnell 5 3 2 55 29* 55.00 161.76 0 0 0 0

J-P Duminy 7 6 1 198 67 39.60 113.79 0 1 1 0

JA Morkel 7 5 3 59 17* 29.50 137.20 0 0 2 0

CA Ingram 4 4 0 116 78 29.00 134.88 0 1 1 0

RE Levi 7 7 1 169 117* 28.16 189.88 1 0 2 0

HM Amla 7 7 1 145 47* 24.16 133.02 0 0 4 0

J Botha 9 4 1 54 34 18.00 120.00 0 0 2 0

AB de Villiers 6 6 1 89 39* 17.80 100.00 0 0 3 0

RJ Peterson 5 2 1 17 11* 17.00 121.42 0 0 1 0

DA Miller 2 2 0 30 20 15.00 93.75 0 0 4 0

JL Ontong 7 5 0 71 32 14.20 186.84 0 0 2 0

GC Smith 2 2 0 24 24 12.00 85.71 0 0 0 0

F du Plessis 2 2 0 12 8 6.00 133.33 0 0 0 0

HG Kuhn 2 2 1 4 3 4.00 40.00 0 0 3 0

J Theron 4 2 2 31 31* - 182.35 0 0 0 0

F Behardien 1 1 1 20 20* - 181.81 0 0 0 0

M de Lange 2 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0

M Morkel 7 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 2 0

DW Steyn 2 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0

LL Tsotsobe 6 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0

DJ Vilas 1 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0

Bowling

Name Overs Mdns Runs Wkts Avg RPO BB 4I

DW Steyn 5 0 23 2 11.50 4.60 1-10 0

J Botha 28.2 0 172 9 19.11 6.07 2-19 0

M Morkel 24 1 192 9 21.33 8.00 2-28 0

M de Lange 8 0 79 3 26.33 9.87 2-36 0

RJ Peterson 13 0 106 4 26.50 8.15 2-27 0

JA Morkel 9.1 0 66 2 33.00 7.20 1-0 0

J Theron 12.3 0 110 3 36.66 8.80 2-28 0

LL Tsotsobe 19 0 120 3 40.00 6.31 2-11 0

J-P Duminy 8 0 61 1 61.00 7.62 1-20 0

WD Parnell 10.5 0 124 1 124.00 11.44 1-37 0

JH Kallis 4 0 31 0 - 7.75 - 0

Supplied by Andrew Samson, Official Statistician of Cricket South Africa
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Operations
Report

inTErnaTionaL anD DomESTiC FixTUrES

During the 2011/2012 season the Proteas were involved 

in 2 home and 1 away series. The first home tour took 

place against Australia and was followed by the Sri Lankan 

tour. The Proteas closed off the season with a tour to New 

Zealand.

The rotation policy of the Board for the first time and has 

proved to be successful.

CSA hosted an Under 19 triangular which involved 

Zimbabwe and Pakistan. Pakistan stayed on after the 

triangular to compete in a 3 match series.

The following fixtures were scheduled:

England Women to South Africa 3 ODI’s/3 T20 October
Australia to South Africa 2 Tests/3 ODI’s/2 Int. T20 Oct/Nov
Sri Lanka to South Africa 3 Tests/5 ODI’s Dec/Jan
Zimbabwe U19 to South Africa 6 ODI’s January
Pakistan U19 to South Africa 10 ODI’s January
South Africa to New Zealand 3 Tests/3 ODI’s/3 T20 Feb/Mar
SuperSport Series 30 Preliminary Round Sep to Feb
One Day Domestic 30 Preliminary/1 Qualifier/1 F Nov/Dec
MiWay T20 42 Preliminary/1 Qualifier/1 F Feb/Mar
CSA Provincial 3-Day  91 Matches Sep to Mar
CSA Provincial 1-Day 42 Matches Sep to Jan
CSA Provincial T20 49 Matches Jan to Mar
CSA Under-19 3-day Competition 20 Preliminary Round Oct to Jan 
Women’s One-day Challenge 70 Preliminary/2 S-F’s/1 F Oct. to Apr
Tournaments and Cricket Weeks Sept. to Feb.

CompETiTion FormaTS

The formats of the SuperSport Series, Provincial Three-

Day and CSA U19 Three Day competitions remained 

unchanged from the previous season.

The One Day Domestic competition was played with the 

introduction of a final qualifier instead of semi-finals. The 

50 over format was introduced in order to mirror the One 

Day International format

The T20 competition had the introduction of a 7th 

Franchise team and the double round which increased 

the number of matches. The final qualifier was also 

introduced for this competition.

aDminiSTraTiVE anD pLaYing ConDiTionS

The Venue Assessment reports of the ICC Match Referee’s 

depict the South African grounds as being generally of a 

high standard.

The concern expressed at the high volume of matches 

being played at our stadiums is still having a detrimental 

effect on the quality of pitches prepared in the past 

season.

The quality of alternate facilities presented by Affiliates 

when hosting Provincial Competition matches is cause 

for concern. The matter is being addressed where each 

affiliate will only be allowed to utilize two alternate 

accredited venues in the ensuing season.

iCC inTErnaTionaL ELiTE panEL oF UmpirES

The elevation of Marais Erasmus to this panel has been 

applauded by all in the cricket fraternity.

During his short stint he has been appointed to very high-

profile series since his appointment. His performance at 

the recent ICC CWC 2011 in India bears testimony to his 

status. 

Notwithstanding his heavy ICC commitments, Marais 

continues to avail himself to officiate in all domestic 

matches when not engaged by ICC. These local 

appointments are utilized to maximize our transference 

of skills and capacity building programme to our younger 

members. 

iCC inTErnaTionaL panEL oF UmpirES

Shaun George and Johan Cloete represented CSA on the 

ICC International Panel of Umpires, and both received 

ICC appointments to officiate in One Day Internationals 

abroad. 

Adrian Holdstock has been appointed as the television 

umpire. He made his International debut in the first 

International T20 against Australia and performed with 

distinction.



49

rEFErEES panEL

The Match Referee’s panel has been a successful tool 

in bridging the gap between the players and officials 

at franchise level. The general feedback on the umpire 

performance is more holistic and less emotional. This 

panel consists of six members which allows for the 

workload to be apportioned equally. 

The introduction of cameras at both ends in franchise 

cricket has been a useful tool for instant feedback to 

umpires.

FirST CLaSS anD EmErging panEL oF UmpirES

Our umpires again maintained high standards during the 

past season which has been carried through from the 

previous season. The ongoing policy of pairing senior 

members with juniors again proved to be beneficial in the 

transference of officiating skills. This policy has assisted in 

broadening the base to sustain us in the future. 

The introduction of an extended umpires exchange 

programme was well received by all countries concerned. 

We are presently engaged in three exchange programs 

with Australia, India, New Zealand, and Sri Lanka. The West 

Indies Cricket has also approached us to be part of the 

program as from the ensuing season.

Whilst conceding that set transformation objectives at the 

top echelon of umpiring in South Africa have not been 

achieved, policies and procedures have been initiated to 

ensure steady progress. 

DiSCipLinarY maTTErS

The introduction of the new Code of Conduct has 

streamlined the number of formal hearings that took 

place during the past season. The code is being revised to 

make it even more streamline

ICC ANTI-RACISM CODE

The code continues to be implemented in a satisfactory 

manner by the affiliates. 

SCorErS

The Scorers acquitted themselves in an exemplary 

manner given the extended nature of the season and its 

associated workload. 

The centralized payment structure where provision 

was made to include Provincial Competitions has been 

successful, alleviating the remuneration disparity among 

the scorers experienced in the past.

The policy of commitment to excellence underpins the 

strategic planning of umpiring, refereeing, scoring and 

groundsmanship structures wherein the base has been 

considerably broadened, reflecting an ever increasing 

appointment of officials from all communities of South 

Africa.

Mike Gajjar

Manager: Cricket Operations

Marais Erasmus 
umpires during 
a SuperSport 
Series match
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Cricket South Africa
shapes tomorrow

Shaping Tomorrow 

It has been an active and fruitful season for cricket 

development. In its bid to shape TOMORROW, Cricket 

South Africa (CSA), along with its partner, KFC, have 

secured a growing KFC Mini-Cricket programme through 

its innovative festivals and growth ideas. The programme 

has grown in leaps and bounds with more than 100 000 

children now taking part. The number of participating 

children has grown by 20.40%, while the number of 

coaches has grown by 25.78% in the past year, exceeding 

the target set by both CSA and KFC at the start of the 

season.

BaCK To SChooL iS CooL!

CSA celebrated the re-opening of inland schools by 

taking a young cricket fan to school accompanied by 

Proteas batsman, Loots Bosman and Nashua Titans wicket 

keeper-batsman, Mangaliso Mosehle.

Tshepo Mofokeng won a competition run 

by CSA through his school, Thakganang 

Primary School in Duduza, an area near Nigel in Ekuruleni. 

Pupils from the school’s grade six classes were asked last 

year to submit an essay about why they love cricket and 

Tshepo’s entry received a unanimous vote. 

The pupils were excited to meet cricket players for the 

first time in their lives and Bosman was blown away 

by the reception they received, “It was such a great 

experience coming through to Duduza and to see so 

much excitement for the first day of school,” he said. 

“This takes me back to my days of primary school and 

how I always looked forward to the start of the school 

year because it meant the beginning of mini-cricket 

practices as well.”

CSA handed over cricket kit worth R5000 to the school, 

which was generously sponsored by Sedgars Sport.

Mosehle stressed the importance of school and 

discipline when he spoke to the pupils of the school 

during the school’s opening assembly. He said: “It’s 

Max Jordaan 
with kids during 
the Mandela Day 
from Bombeleni 
Primary School 
and Nkowankowa 
Cricket Club
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important to always remember to put school first and to 

learn as much as you can. Listen to your teachers, they 

are here to offer you support whenever you need it and 

never forget to always respect your parents, teachers, 

coaches and fellow pupils. Hard work will always pay off 

at the end of the day.”

CSa paY TriBUTE To Two gLoBaL iConS

On 30 March 2012, CSA and the BCCI made 

good on their promise to make a once off 

T20 match possible annually when the 

Proteas took on India in front of a capacity 

crowd at the bidvest Wanderers Stadium 

for the New Age Friendship Cup. The match 

was used to pay tribute to one of South 

African cricket’s favourite sons, Jacques Kallis 

and India’s Yuvraj Singh who was battling with 

cancer at the time. South Africa scored their 

second highest total ever at the Wanderers 

Stadium and the second highest total ever  

by the Proteas with Kallis scoring 61 from 42  

balls.

There was nothing to suggest that India weren’t 

on target to make a very competitive response. 

With all their wickets in hand they were only 

11 runs short of their Duckworth/Lewis target 

when play was abandoned. 

manDELa DaY

Nkowankowa Cricket Club at Bombeleni Primary 

School in Limpopo were the beneficiaries of this 

year’s Mandela Day facelift. The club, who play in 

the Limpopo Impala Cricket Association, were the 

recipients of three concrete nets, perimeter fencing 

and an expanded kitchen. CSA staff along with Nashua 

Titans players – Ethy Mbhalati, Rowan Richards and 

Mangaliso Mosehle – put a second lick of paint on 

the kitchen walls along with late Northerns Nashua 

Titans CEO, Elise Lombard. CSA also handed helmets, 

bats and balls out to some of Nkowankowa’s younger 

players.  

Ethy Mbhalati, 
Rowan Richards 
and Mangaliso 
Mosehle during 
Mandela Day
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The kitchen had a chiefly important role in the everyday 

life of the club as it is known to supply food for as many as 

900 children from the primary school. The club’s first team 

play in the Limpopo Impala Association’s reserve league. 

In 2011 the club contributed 10 provincial players across 

all of the province’s age group teams.

Max Jordaan, CSA’s Senior Cricket manager, said: “We are 

keen supporters of grassroots development. The club is a 

vital cog in community sport in the Limpopo area and we 

are thrilled to be doing our 67 minutes of work in support 

of Mandela Day.”

CSA thanked its sponsors Coca-Cola and KFC for 

contributing their product and lunch packs for the KFC 

Mini-Cricket players who participated in the mini-cricket 

festival at the school. Sedgars Sport donated two sets of 

kit to the value of R10 000 which was handed over to the 

school and 50 KFC Mini-Cricket T-shirts to add to the day’s 

festivities. 

proTEaS

Thirty young cricketers from the inner district of London 

were treated to a special coaching clinic by the Proteas’ 

management and players at The Kia Oval on Wednesday. 

The clinic was part of the squad’s contribution to 

Mandela Day, where individuals are encouraged to spend 

67minutes giving back to a worthy cause. 

Proteas seamer, Lonwabo Tsotsobe was happy that he 

could contribute to the special day. “Madiba did so much 

for our country, the least we can do is give 67minutes to a 

good cause on this special day. We had a great afternoon 

with the young cricketers and we hope that spending 

time with them will bring a positive influence to their 

lives.”

Proteas captain, Graeme Smith also shared some 

special words about Mandela. “Firstly, a big happy 

birthday from the Proteas to Madiba, he is a man 

that is very special to all of us in South Africa and we 

hope that he has a wonderful day with his family and 

his close friends. He will know that there are a lot of 

people in South Africa that are doing good things 

on his birthday and we, as the Proteas, contributed 

67-minutes of our time at The Oval and giving back; 

Madiba would have liked us to lead in the same 

manner that he has all these years.” 

CSa annUaL ConFErEnCE - 2011

“Creating a better TOMORROW for all” was the theme for 

Cricket South Africa’s 2011 – 2012 Annual Conference. 

The conference was again held at the Sandton 

Convention Centre and was attended by more than 300 

delegates. The two-day event was another heralded 

success, with key stakeholders in cricket – from KFC 

Mini-Cricket to the Proteas  – sharing ideas and ways of 

growing the game.

The event also included individual workshops for the 

various components that make up CSA’s activities across 

both the professional and amateur landscape. The high 

point came when CSA CEO Gerald Majola took delegates 

through the Presidential Plan for the next four years 

(2011-15).  

Transformation was also a key highlight at the conference, 

with Transformation Committee head, Willie Basson 

sharing interesting statistics on the game’s cultural 

demographics throughout the country.

Dr. Basson’s presentation revealed that CSA will not 

be able to sustain excellence and adequate support 

structures, particularly at the all important youth level, if 

the pace of transformation is not accelerated.

Transformation is not a matter of replacing a white player, 

coach or administrator with a black one,” Dr. Basson told 

delegates. “Transformation is about living in harmony with 

forces that impact on your environment.”

The Proteas squad was also in attendance on the final 

day, and launched the new season with the cricket 

family. 
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Activities during 
the KFC Mini-
Cricket Festival at 
Boland Park
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Corporate
governance

CompLianCE wiTh LawS, rULES, CoDES anD 

STanDarDS

The Board is responsible for ensuring that Cricket South 

Africa (CSA) complies with applicable laws and considers 

adhering to non-binding rules and codes.

Through the Audit and Risk Committee the Board ensures 

that appropriate structures and systems, with appropriate 

checks and balances, are established to help it discharge 

its legal responsibilities and oversee legal compliance.

CorporaTE goVErnanCE

The Board recognizes the need to conduct the business 

of CSA with openness, integrity and accountability. To this 

end, CSA has embarked on a programme to entrench and 

strengthen recommended practices in its governance 

structures, systems, process and procedures.

STaTUTorY CompLianCE

Compliance remains a strong focus of the Board, which 

bears the ultimate responsibility for ensuring that CSA 

identifies and complies with applicable laws.

The coming into effect of the Companies Act and the 

Consumer Protection Act during the year under review 

has been noted by the Board as well as the legislative 

imperative to appoint a Social and Ethics Committee.

During the year under review, CSA did not decline 

any requests for access to information in terms of the 

Promotion of Access to Information Act.

ConFLiCT oF inTErEST

The Board recognizes the importance of acting in the best 

interests of the company and protecting the legitimate 

interest and expectations of its stakeholders. The provisions 

of the Companies Act on disclosing or avoiding conflicts 

of interest are consistently applied by the Board. Directors 

are required to declare their interests at each meeting of 

the Board. The company has also adopted a policy that 

addresses the acceptance of gifts which requires that gifts 

above a certain financial threshold be officially declared 

and registered on the company’s gift register.

whiSTLE BLowing

CSA has a whistle blowing policy in terms of which staff, 

players and stakeholders, generally, are encouraged to 

anonymously and confidentially report incidences of 

unethical and illegal nature with respect to CSA. This tip-

off facility is managed by Deloitte on behalf of CSA.

CompanY SECrETarY

Mr Pumelele Canca is the Company Secretary, duly 

appointed by the Board in accordance with the 

Companies Act. He took up his appointment on  

1 November 2011. The Company Secretary provides the 

Board as a whole and directors individually with guidance 

on discharging their responsibilities. He is also a central 

source of information and advice to the Board and the 

company on matters of ethics and good governance. He 

also ensures that, in accordance with pertinent laws, the 

proceedings and affairs of the Board and its members 

and the company itself are properly administered. He is 

also meant to assist and ensure that the Board, individual 

directors and board committees are evaluated annually. 

The Company Secretary also assists in developing an 

annual board plan and ensures compliance with the 

statutory requirements of CSA.

BoarD CommiTTEES

The Board currently has seven sub-committees that assist 

in discharging its responsibilities. These committees, 

listed below, play an important role in enhancing good 

corporate governance, improving internal controls and, 

therefore, the performance of CSA:

	Audit and Risk Committee

	Finance and Commercial Committee

	Remuneration and Human Resources Committee

	Transformation Committee

	Chairmen’s Committee

	Legal and Governance Committee

	Cricket Committee

Each board committee acts according to written terms of 

reference, approved by the Board, setting out its purpose, 

duties and membership requirements. 



55

2011-12 Financial Year 
Treasurer’s Report

T
his report reviews the financial highlights for the 

year ended 30 April 2012.

The main objectives of the Finance and 

Commercial Committee (FINCOM) are to provide 

strategic risk and monitoring support to Cricket South 

Africa (CSA) in all areas relating to the financial and 

commercial matters. In this regard FINCOM continues 

to fulfil a very important role so as to ensure that cricket 

has a stable and predictable financial foundation to 

allow it to develop. The Annual Financial Statements 

(AFS) are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board, in the manner 

required by the Company’s Act of South Africa and are 

the responsibility of the Directors. The Directors having 

conducted appropriate procedures are satisfied that the 

company is a Going Concern in the foreseeable future 

and such going concern basis has been adopted in the 

preparation of the financial statements. 

opEraTionaL oVErViEw

In the year under review CSA has realised an operating 

loss before finance costs, investment income and foreign 

exchange gains as compared to a significant profit in 

the prior year. The loss before tax amounted to R47,0m 

compared to a profit before tax of R247,8m in the 

previous year. Revenue for the year of R430,0m (2011: 

R744,1m) decreased mainly as a result of a decline in 

Broadcast Rights fees and a reduction in amateur and 

professional sponsorships. Expenses increased during the 

same period to R517,7m (2011: R487,6m).

CSA may deduct from its income all qualifying 

expenditure not of a capital nature, incurred by it on the 

promotion of qualifying amateur sport falling under the 

same code as the professional sport for tax purposes. 

Whilst a loss for the year was incurred it must be noted 

that CSA derives benefits from a continued operation of 

the improved structures, expertise and management at all 

levels within the organisation.

The main drivers of income are the International 

Broadcasting Rights fee earned from inbound cricket 

tours, distributions from the International Cricket Council 

(ICC) and Sponsorships. Broadcast Rights fees were 

significantly lower this year due to the lower rights fees 

earned on the combined Australian and Sri Lankan tours 

in the current year as compared to the incoming Indian 

tour during the prior cricket season. ICC distributions were 

minimal this year compared to the prior year as there 

were no major ICC events such as the ICC Cricket World 

Cup in the current year. Sponsorships were down due to 

the reputational harm experienced during the year as well 

as CSA’s inability to renegotiate new deals on its existing 

unsponsored properties.

The expenses of the organisation were controlled. CSA 

either conducts programmes itself or it provides funds 

to its affiliates and associates for the development of 

amateur cricket. The allocation to amateur bodies and 

franchises was increased during the year.

On a review of the balance sheet, it will be seen that 

Cricket South Africa holds very large cash resources. This 

is a result of the fact that revenue is primarily received in 

the last few months of the financial year and expenditure 

incurred on a consistent basis during the year. The 

current cash position, together with future income 

and controlled expenditure, needs to ensure that the 

operational costs for CSA are adequately covered for 

ensuing years.

CSA reinvests its funds into the promotion of the game 

of cricket through a series of development programmes 

which include Mini-Cricket, SA Under 13 Week, CSA 

Under 15 Week, CSA Under 19 Three-Day Competition, 

CSA Under 17 National Week, CSA Franchise CUBS Week, 

CSA Talent Acceleration Programme, SA Under 19 Cricket, 

CSA National Cricket Academy, CSA High Performance 

Programme and CSA Under 19 Girls Week.

As mentioned CSA derives the income to fund these 

programmes partly through events such  
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as the ICC Cricket World Cup or an inbound tour from a 

visiting cricketing team which do not recur annually. To 

the extent that these events generate more income than 

is required for the development of amateur cricket in any 

one operational year, CSA will set aside the surplus funds 

for expenditure to be incurred in future years.

A letter of representation was prepared for submission 

to the board and signed off by the acting CEO and 

all senior managers at CSA in order to give the Board 

assurance that in all operations the financial position of 

CSA gives a true and fair view of its operations and its 

cash flow.

	 The Annual Financial Statements (AFS) were approved 

by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board of 

Directors.

	 As stated above, year-to-year cricket revenue depends 

very much on the future tours programme of the 

ICC. Revenue streams therefore fluctuate from year 

to year. The cost base is virtually constant resulting 

in fluctuating net results. Without a major tour this 

year the revenue generated was severely reduced 

by R141,6m for ICC distributions and R95,5m for 

broadcasts rights fees.

	 CSA continued on a four year rolling cash flow budget 

to smooth distributions to its affiliates, associates and 

franchises.

	 The major variances between the current and prior 

year are mainly due to:

 	 In respect of the 42,2% decrease in income:

  	 Broadcast rights decreased by 25,7% to 

R276,7m (2011: R372,3m)

  	 ICC distribution decreased by 99,0% to R1,5m 

(2011: R143,2m)

  	 Sponsorships decreased by 56,9% to R64,0m 

(2011: R148,5m)

 	 Costs were well controlled and increased by 6,2% 

in total

  	 Positive exchange rate fluctuations R18,5m 

(2011: R18,0m negative)

  	 Administrative expenses R118,1m (2011: 

R95,6m)

The Cash flow position remains healthy. Cash reserves of 

R474,6m, (2011: R496,6m) were on hand on 30 April 2012. 

This will help to balance our books over the next four year 

period. 

CSA has a strong balance sheet.

Looking ahead, CSA is expected to experience another 

tough year with a loss budgeted for 2013 and a change to 

profitability in the year thereafter. 

ForwarD rEViEw

The previously adopted four year budget cycle has 

been retained on a basis of an on-going rolling budget 

cycle. This allows CSA to positively view its financial 

performance and position over a rolling four year 

period and to ensure that it is financially stable into 

the future. Based on the review of the four year rolling 

budget, CSA will be a going concern for the foreseeable 

future.

oThEr KEY iSSUES

CSA continues to oversee the financial position of its 

affiliates and associates which assists in ensuring a healthy 

amateur funding process. A Standard Chart of Accounts 

that was developed previously continues to ensure 

that the Finance and Commercial Committee is able to 

evaluate financial statements of all affiliates based on 

comparable information.

ConCLUSion

In conclusion, the Committee would like to emphasize, 

despite the adverse circumstances, the major financial 

contribution made to Cricket by our sponsors, our 

suppliers and our spectators and wish to give assurance 

to these supporters that the finances of this organisation 

are well managed and will continue to be so into the 

future. We would like to thank South African Breweries, 

KFC, Coca Cola South Africa, SUNFOIL, MiWay and our 

official suppliers for their support this year with their 

involvement in South African Cricket.

The Committee would like to express its appreciation 

to the Audit and Risk Committee, management and 

in particular to the Acting Chief Executive Officer, 

the Chief Financial Officer and head office staff for 

their time and input during the year which assisted in 

contributing to a controlled financial result for Cricket 

South Africa.

FinaLLY 

My thanks to Mr Jacques Faul (acting CEO) for his sound 

leadership and stabilisation of the office in the latter part 
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SpLiT oF 2011/12 opEraTionaL ExpEnSES

   Amateur Sponsorship

   Professional Sponsorship

   Broadcast Rights income

   ICC Distributions

   Government grants

   Other income

   Administrative and other expenses

   Amateur and Development Cricket

   Direct Allocations to amateur bodies

   Direct Allocations to franchises

   Domestic Competitions Funding

   Marketing Expenses

   National Squad Remuneration

   SA team tour costs

   TV production costs

13%

64%

13%

14%
8%

2%

9%

11%

11%

4%
28%

1%

20%
2%

0%
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of the year and to Mr Naasei Appiah for the strict financial 

control exercised during the year. My thanks also to Mr 

Archie Pretorius for his input and sound management 

through the Audit and Risk Committee. Last but not 

least my appreciation to all the support staff who have 

operated through some trying times this year to achieve 

these results.

I herewith table the AFS set out on pages 58 to 85 for your 

ratification.

I thank you.

J A Bester

Chairman of the Finance and Commerical Committee
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DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL OF THE  
ANNuAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements set out on pages 58 to 85 

are the responsibility of the directors.

The directors are responsible for selecting and adopting 

sound accounting practices, for maintaining an 

adequate and effective system of accounting records, 

for safeguarding of assets, and for developing and 

maintaining a system of internal control that, among other 

things, will ensure the preparation of financial statements 

that achieve fair presentation. Nothing has come to 

the attention of the directors to indicate any material 

breakdown in the functioning of the controls, procedures 

and system has occurred during the year under review.

After conducting appropriate procedures, the directors 

are satisfied that the company will be a going concern 

for the foreseeable future and have adopted the going 

concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies 

Act of South Africa. The annual financial statements 

are based on appropriate accounting policies that are 

consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 

prudent judgements and estimates.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 58 to 85 

were approved by the board of directors on  

11 August 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

W. D. BASSON                   J. FAuL                J. A. BESTER

INDEPENDENT AuDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE DIRECTORS OF CRICKET SOuTH AFRICA NPC

We have audited the annual financial statements of 

Cricket South Africa NPC which comprise the statement 

of financial position as at 30 April 2012, the statement 

of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 

equity, and the statement of cash flows for the year 

then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on 

pages 61 to 85. 
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and 

in the manner required by the Companies Act of South 

Africa, and for such internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 

the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of Cricket 

South Africa NPC as at 30 April 2012, and its financial 

performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies 

Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year 

ended 30 April 2012, we have read the Directors’ Report, 

for the purpose of identifying whether there are material 

inconsistencies between this report and the audited 

financial statements. This report is the responsibility of 

the directors. Based on reading this report we have not 

identified material inconsistencies between this report 

and the audited financial statements. However, we have 

not audited this report and accordingly do not express an 

opinion on this report.

Deloitte & Touche 

Registered Auditors

Per: I. Vawda

Partner 

11 August 2012

Buildings 2, Deloitte Place, The Woodlands,

Woodlands Drive, Woodmead, Sandton

National Executive: LL Barn Chief Executive, AE Swiegers Chief Operating Officer,  
GM Pinnock Audit, DL Kennedy Risk Advisory, NB Kader Tax, L Geeringh Consulting & 
Clients & Industries, JK Mazzocco Talent & Transformation, CR Beukman Finance,  
M Jordan Strategy, S Gwala Special Projects, TJ Brown Chairman of the Board,  
MJ Comber Deputy Chairman of the Board

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report for 

the year ended 30 April 2012.

Nature of Business and Operations

The company’s main business is to promote, advance, 

administer, co-ordinate and generally encourage the 

game of cricket in South Africa.

Review of results for the year

The results of the company and the state of its affairs are 

fully set out in the accompanying financial statements. 

Distributions and Dividends

The company distributes monies to its members 

including but not limited to its affiliates and associate 

members for the protection, promotion and 

advancement of amateur and professional cricket in terms 

of s11E and s24E of the Income Tax Act. In the current 

year, the company distributed R112,5 million (2011: 

R112,3 million) to its affiliate and associate members. No 

dividends were declared or recommended during the 

current and prior year. 
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Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the company spent a total of R1.7 million 

(2011: R23.8 million) on additions to property, plant and 

equipment.

Going Concern

The directors consider that the company has adequate 

resources to continue operating for the foreseeable 

future and that it is therefore appropriate to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing the company’s financial 

statements.

Directors

The directors of the company during the financial year 

and up to the date of this report were:

W. D. Basson* Acting Chairman

 (Appointed 17 March 2012)

M. G. Majola# Chief Executive Officer

J. Faul# Acting Chief Executive Officer

 (Appointed 17 March 2012)

J. A. Bester*

R. S. Classen

L. Crawley

P. W. Cyster

M. F. Jaffar

H. E. Molotsi

G. Naidoo*

H. C. Nenzani

M. G. Nkagisang

V. Ntswahlana (Appointed 8 September 2011)

A. G. O’Connor

E. Pretorius

R. Richards (Appointed 8 September 2011)

V. N. Sinovich

P. N. Thamae

B. Williams (Appointed 8 September 2011)

T. Moroe (Appointed 26 May 2012)

M. Nyoka* Chairman

 (Resigned 15 October 2011)

A. K. Khan† Acting Chairman

 (Resigned 14 March 2012)

J. H. Blair* (Resigned 14 March 2012)

M. Ebrahim (Resigned 8 September 2011)

A. Jinnah (Resigned 8 September 2011)

R. R. Mali (Resigned 30 March 2012)

D. T. May (Resigned 8 September 2011)

T. N. Mgoduso* (Resigned 13 October 2011)

Interest of Directors and Officers in Contracts

During the financial year under review, the company 

received sponsorship from The New Age Media (Pty) Ltd 

amounting to R3,8 million (2011: R2,8 million) in which  

G Naidoo is an executive director. An amount of R2,3 

million relating to this sponsorship has been provided for 

at year-end as the monies have not been received. 

The directors have certified that they did not have 

any other material interest in any transaction of any 

significance with the company. A register detailing 

directors’ and officers’ interests is available for inspection 

at the company’s registered office.

Suspension of Chief Executive Officer

On 17 March 2012, the chief executive officer (CEO),  

Mr Gerald Majola, was suspended with immediate effect 

pending the establishment of a disciplinary enquiry. 

Such disciplinary enquiry is to address the findings of the 

KPMG report and the recommendations of the Nicholson 

Committee of Enquiry as far as they pertain to him. The 

Board requested North West Cricket NPC to second  

Mr Jacques Faul, the CEO of North West Cricket NPC, to 

act as CEO until the matter was resolved.

Secretary

Mr Pumelele Canca is the company secretary, duly 

appointed by the board of directors in accordance with 

the Companies Act. Mr Pume Canca was appointed on 

1 November 2011. Prior to his appointment, all secretarial 

matters were dealt with by the office of the CEO.

Business address Postal address

Wanderers Club P O Box 55009

21 North Street Northlands

Illovo 2116

Johannesburg

Preparer of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements set out on pages 58 to 85 

have been prepared under the supervision of Mr Naasei 

Appiah (BComHons), CA(SA), the Chief Financial Officer 

(CFO) of Cricket SA.

* Independent non-executive directors do not serve 

office in any other cricket capacity by way of their 

association with cricket unions, affiliates and player 

associations.

# Executive director. 

† Resigned as deputy chairman on 15 October 2011 and 

was appointed on the same date as acting chairman.

 All other directors listed above are non-executive 

directors.
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CRICKET SOuTH AFRICA NPC
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 April 2012

notes 2012 2011★★

r’000 r’000

Revenue 430 012 744 147

Amateur sponsorship 8 822 27 470
Broadcast rights income 1 276 723 372 253
CL T20 participation fee 36 066 26 109
Coach hire 15 636 4 293
Event income - 850
ICC distributions 1 534 143 174
International gates revenue 27 254 34 247
NLDTF (Lottery) grant - 12 500
Other income 7 804 1 538
Professional sponsorship 55 192 121 073
Sports and Recreation South Africa grants 2 981 640

Expenses (517 703) (487 609)

Administrative expenses and fees (118 135) (95 692)
Amateur cricket (50 508) (49 080)
Cricket development (1 486) (1 254)
Cricket operations and umpires (12 319) (7 142)
Coach hire (14 152) (5 127)
Direct allocations to amateur bodies (72 792) (69 633)
Direct allocations to franchises (39 725) (42 684)
Disabled cricket (1 062) (728)
Domestic competitions funding (12 325) (11 088)
High performance programme (7 305) (3 008)
Marketing expenses (44 417) (19 423)
National squad - remuneration (59 572) (96 564)
Parastatal grants (280) (240)
SA teams tour costs (54 851) (67 303)
Sports and Recreation South Africa expenditure 2 (981) (640)
TV production costs (19 666) (12 857)
Women’s cricket  (8 127) (5 146)

Operating (loss) profit 3 (87 691) 256 538

Finance costs 4 (776) (703)
Investment income 4 22 943 10 046
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) 18 552 (18 032)

(Loss) profit before taxation (46 972) 247 849
Taxation 5 - 47 730 

(Loss) profit for the year (46 972) 295 579

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (46 972) 295 579

★★ Reclassification of international gates revenue and administrative expenses and fees (refer note 21).
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notes 2012 2011
r’000 r’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets 32 870 37 264

Property, plant and equipment 6 22 422 24 957
Loan: Western Province Cricket Association 7.1 10 304 12 307
Loan: Griqua Diamonds NPC 7.2 144 -

Current assets 577 195 669 244

Loan: Western Province Cricket Association 7.1 3 361 2 193
Loan: Griqua Diamonds NPC 7.2 867 -
Advance: 2010 Champions League T20 (South Africa) 7.3 - 8 388
Trade and other receivables 8 88 270 148 293
Value Added Tax receivable 10 119 13 742
Cash and cash equivalents 9 474 578 496 628

TOTAL ASSETS 610 065 706 508

EQuITY AND LIABILITIES

Reserves 533 286 580 258

Retained earnings 533 286 580 258

Non-Current liability - 2 862

Other financial liability 7.4 - 2 862

Current liabilities 76 779 123 388

Other financial liability 7.4 2 848 16 434
Advance: 2010 Champions League T20 (South Africa) 7.3 10 572 16 404
Provision 10 1 394 500
Trade and other payables 11 61 965 90 050

TOTAL EQuITY AND LIABILITIES 610 065 706 508
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retained
 earnings

r’000

Balance as at 1 May 2010 284 679

Total comprehensive income for the year 295 579

Balance as at 30 April 2011 580 258

Total comprehensive loss for the year (46 972)

Balance as at 30 April 2012 533 286
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2012 2011
r’000 r’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss) profit before taxation (46 972) 247 849

Adjustments for: (16 999) (9 551)

Depreciation 4 246 1 750
Finance costs 776 703
Investment income (22 943) (10 046)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 28 39
Loan written off - 153
Movement in provision 894 (2 150)

Operating (loss) profit before working capital changes: (63 971) 238 298

Adjustments for working capital changes: 35 561 (64 496)

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 60 023 (87 438)
Decrease in Value Added Tax receivable 3 623 2 716
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (28 085) 20 226

Cash (utilised in) generated from operations (28 410) 173 802
Interest paid (776) (703)
Interest received 21 878 9 201

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (7 308) 182 300

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1 739) (23 837)
Increase in Griqua Diamonds NPC loan (1 011) -
Decrease in Central Cricket Franchise loan - 1 191
Decrease in Western Province Cricket Association loan 1 900 2 900
Decrease in 2009 ICC Champions Trophy advance - 2 120
Decrease in 2009 Indian Premier League advance - 9 838
Decrease (increase) in 2010 Champions League T20 advance 8 388 (8 388)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 7 538 (16 176)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(Decrease) increase in 2010 Champions League T20 advance (5 832) 16 404
(Decrease) increase in other financial liability (16 448) 19 296

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities (22 280) 35 700

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENTS (22 050) 201 824

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 496 628 294 804

CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 474 578 496 628
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1. aCCoUnTing poLiCiES

1.1 Presentation

 These financial statements are presented in South 

African Rand since that is the currency in which 

the majority of the company’s transactions are 

denominated.

1.2 Basis of presentation

 The financial statements have been prepared 

under the historical cost basis, except for certain 

financial instruments carried at fair value, and 

non-current assets which are held at the lower of 

carrying value and fair value less costs to sell, as 

applicable.

 The preparation of financial statements requires 

the use of estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported values of assets and liabilities, and 

disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities 

at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the reported period. Although these 

estimates are based on management’s best 

knowledge of current events and actions, 

actual results may ultimately differ from those 

estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period 

in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods.

1.3 Statement of compliance

 The annual financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner 

required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

1.4 Accounting policies

 The principle accounting policies are set out 

below and are consistent in all material respects 

with those applied in the previous year. New and 

revised standards and interpretations applicable 

to the entity, in issue but not yet effective at the 

reporting date are disclosed in note 22.

1.5 Revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that the economic benefits will flow 

to the company and the revenue can be reliably 

measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable. VAT 

is excluded from revenue. Revenue comprises 

income from the sale of TV rights, sponsorship 

revenue, event revenue, gate revenue and other 

revenue. Revenue due in terms of contracts 

is recognised according to the terms of the 

contract, while all other income is accounted for 

on an accrual basis or in accordance with the 

relevant transactions or agreements. 

1.6 Investment income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis by 

reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

interest rate applicable.

1.7  Property, plant and equipment and 

depreciation

 Property, plant and equipment (owned 

and leased) are stated at historical cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses. Depreciation is charged so 

as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual 

values over their estimated useful lives, using the 

straight-line method. The following useful lives are 

used for the depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment:

 Computer equipment 3 years

 Furniture & fittings 3 to 10 years

 Motor vehicles 5 years

 Leasehold improvement over period of the lease

 

 All assets are reviewed annually for impairment. 

 Useful lives, depreciation methods and residual 

values are reviewed at each reporting date.  

No depreciation is charged if the residual  

values are more than the carrying  

values.
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 The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset 

is determined as the difference between the sales 

proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and 

is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income.

1.8 Impairment

 At each reporting date, the company reviews 

the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 

assets to determine whether there is any 

indication that those assets may be impaired. 

If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss 

(if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the 

recoverable amount of any individual asset, 

the recoverable amount is determined for the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount represents the higher of fair 

value less costs to sell and value in use.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or 

cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less 

than its carrying value, the carrying value of 

the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to 

its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 

recognised as an expense immediately.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 

the carrying value of the asset (cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 

recoverable amount, but so that the increased 

carrying value does not exceed the carrying 

value that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal 

of an impairment loss is recognised as income 

immediately.

1.9 Leases

 Leases are classified as finance leases where the 

terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee.

 Assets held under finance leases are capitalised 

as property, plant and equipment, at their cash 

equivalent cost. The corresponding liability is 

included in the statement of financial position as 

a finance lease obligation. The cash equivalent 

cost is the lower of the fair value of the asset 

and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments at inception of the lease.

 Lease payments are apportioned between 

finance charges and reduction of the lease 

obligation, so as to achieve a constant rate 

of interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability.

 Leases for assets under which the risks and 

benefits of ownership are effectively retained 

by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 

Obligations incurred under operating leases are 

recognised in the income statement in equal 

instalments over the period of the lease.

1.10 Foreign currencies

 Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted 

for at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates 

of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting 

date. Gains and losses arising from the settlement 

of such transactions are recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income.

1.11 Post-employment benefit costs

 The company operates a defined contribution 

plan, the assets of which are generally held in 

a separate trustee-administered fund. The fund 

is funded by payments from employees and 

the company. The company’s contributions are 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income during the period in which the employee 

renders the related service.

1.12 Receipts in advance

 Monies received which are not yet due, in terms 

of the contracts, are deferred and recorded as 

receipts in advance, in liabilities.

1.13 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 

which they are incurred.
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1.14 Financial instruments

 Initial recognition and measurement

 All financial instruments, including derivative 

instruments, are recognised in the statement 

of financial position. Financial instruments are 

initially recognised when the company becomes 

party to the contractual terms of the instruments 

and are measured at cost, which is the fair value 

of the consideration given (financial asset) or 

received (financial liability or equity instrument) 

for it. 

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments are 

classified according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangement on initial recognition. 

Subsequent to initial recognition these 

instruments are measured as set out below.

 Fair value methods and assumptions

 The fair value of financial instruments traded in 

an organised financial market are measured at 

the applicable quoted prices, adjusted for any 

transaction costs necessary to realise the assets or 

settle the liabilities.

 The fair value of financial instruments not traded 

in an organised financial market, is determined 

using a variety of methods and assumptions 

that are based on market conditions and risk 

existing at reporting date, including independent 

appraisals and discounted cash flow methods. 

 The fair value determined is adjusted for any 

transaction costs necessary to realise the assets or 

settle the liabilities.

 The carrying values of financial assets and 

liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are 

assumed to approximate their fair values due to 

the short-term trading cycle of these items.

 Derecognition

 Financial assets (or a portion thereof ) are 

derecognised when the company realises the 

rights to the benefits specified in the contract, 

the rights expire or the company surrenders 

or otherwise loses control of the contractual 

rights that comprise the financial asset. On 

derecognition, the difference between the carrying 

value of the financial asset and proceeds receivable 

and any prior adjustment to reflect fair value that 

had been reported in equity are included in the 

statement of comprehensive income.

 Financial liabilities (or a portion thereof ) are 

derecognised when the obligation specified in 

the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

On derecognition, the difference between the 

carrying value of the financial liability, including 

related unamortised costs, and amount paid for it 

are included in the statement of comprehensive 

income.

 Gains and losses on subsequent measurement

 Gains and losses arising from a change in the 

fair value of financial instruments that are not 

part of a hedging relationship are included in 

the statement of comprehensive income in the 

period in which the change arises.

 Offset

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount reported in the statement 

of financial position when the company has a 

legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 

amounts, and intends either to settle on a net 

basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.

 Financial assets

 Financial assets are comprised of ‘loans and 

receivables’.

 This classification depends on the nature and 

purpose of the financial assets and is determined 

at the time of initial recognition.

 Effective interest rate method

 The effective interest method is a method of 

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset  

and of allocating interest income over the 

relevant period. The effective interest rate  

is the rate that exactly discounts  

estimated future cash receipts  
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through the expected life of the financial asset, or, 

where appropriate, a shorter period. Discounting 

of a financial asset is performed where the effect 

of discounting is estimated to be material.

 Loans and receivables

 Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables 

that have fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market are classified as 

‘loans and receivables’.

 Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value 

as reduced by appropriate allowances  

for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

 Impairment of financial assets

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of 

impairment at each reporting date. Financial 

assets are impaired where there is objective 

evidence that, as a result of one or more events 

that occurred after the initial recognition of the 

financial asset, the estimated cash flows of the 

investment have been impacted. For financial 

assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of 

the impairment is the difference between the 

asset’s carrying value and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 

original effective interest rate.

 The carrying value of the financial asset is reduced 

by the impairment loss directly for all financial 

assets with the exception of trade receivables 

where the carrying value is reduced through 

the use of an allowance account. When a trade 

receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against 

the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 

of amounts previously written off are credited 

against the allowance account. Changes in the 

carrying value of the allowance account are 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 

be related objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed in the 

statement of comprehensive income to the 

extent that the carrying value of the investment 

at the date the impairment is reversed does not 

exceed what the amortised cost would have been 

had the impairment not been recognised.

 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 

deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and that are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Classification as debt or equity

 Debt and equity instruments are classified as 

either financial liabilities or equity in accordance 

with the substance of the contract.

 Financial liabilities

 Borrowings

 Interest-bearing loans and overdrafts are 

recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 

issue costs. Finance charges, including premiums 

payable on settlement or redemption, are 

accounted for on an accrual basis and are added 

to the carrying value of the instrument to the 

extent that they are not settled in the period in 

which they arise. 

 Trade and other payables 

 Trade and other payables are stated at their 

nominal value.

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that 

evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 

entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 

instruments are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.

1.15 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised as a present 

constructive obligation when, as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 

obligation can be made. 
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2012 2011
r’000 r’000

2. SporT anD rECrEaTion SoUTh aFriCa

Having seen the allocation of funds from the Department of Sport and Recreation 

South Africa, the directors are satisfied that the amounts were spent in accordance 

with para 4.11 of the Memorandum of Agreement.

Subsidies received and spent from Sport and Recreation South Africa

Category

Special projects: Women 981 640

The grant from the Department of Sport and Recreation South Africa was 

deposited on 3 February 2012 (2011: 9 March 2011).

All equipment purchased has been expensed.

3. opEraTing (LoSS) proFiT

Operating profit is arrived at after charging the following items:

Auditor’s remuneration 
– current year provision 645 600
– prior year under-provision - 210

Depreciation 4 246 1 750
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 28 39

 Movement in allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts (refer note 8) 2 821 1 152
Bad debt written off - 752

Operating lease charges
– Equipment 237 170
– Premises 658 627

Salary and related employment costs
– Administration and related staff 26 962 23 009
– Players and team management 59 572 97 918

Number of employees
– Administration and related staff
 Permanent staff 40 38
 Fixed term staff 15  10
– Players and team management 29 30

4. FinanCE CoSTS anD inVESTmEnT inComE

Financial institutions (776) (703)

Finance costs (776) (703)

Financial institutions 21 878 9 201
Western Province Cricket Association 1 065 845

Investment income 22 943 10 046



70

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA NPC
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

2012 2011
r’000 r’000

5. TaxaTion 

South African normal taxation

Current taxation – prior year - 50 619
Deferred taxation – prior year - (2 889)

- 47 730

Reconciliation of rate of taxation % %

Taxation at standard rate 28,00 28,00
S11E and 24E (28,00) (28,00)
Prior year - (19,16)

Effective rate of taxation - (19,16)

Cricket South Africa NPC’s income fluctuates widely from year to year due to tournaments and other events which 

occur in cycles or infrequently. 

In terms of section 11E of the South African Income Tax Act (“the Act”), a special deduction is available to Cricket 

South Africa NPC.

Cricket South Africa NPC may deduct from its income all qualifying expenditure, not of a capital nature, incurred 

by it on the development and promotion of qualifying amateur sport falling under the same code of sport as the 

professional sport it carries on.

In addition, in terms of section 24E of the Act, Cricket South Africa NPC may lawfully move current income to 

the future. Where Cricket South Africa NPC receives revenue “spikes” when a sports event is held in a particular 

financial year and relatively low revenue in subsequent financial years, Cricket South Africa may defer the excess 

income from the “spikes” out over future years, so as to smooth out the revenue. 

S24E therefore allows Cricket South Africa to deduct so much of the income which is not expected to recur in the 

following year of assessment as will be required to fund expenditure contemplated in S11E that will be incurred in 

a future year of assessment.
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Computer Furniture Leasehold motor 
equipment & fittings improvement vehicles Total

2012 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

6. propErTY, pLanT anD 
EQUipmEnT

Cost
At beginning of the year 1 320 205 5 580 22 456 29 561
Additions 642 1 1 096 - 1 739
Disposals (28) - - - (28)

At end of the year 1 934 206 6 676 22 456 31 272

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the year 637 133 2 711 1 123 4 604
Current year depreciation 457 1 420 3 368 4 246

At end of the year 1 094 134 3 131 4 491 8 850

Carrying amount – 2012 840 72 3 545 17 965 22 422

Computer Furniture Leasehold motor
equipment & fittings improvement vehicles Total

2011 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

Cost
At beginning of the year 863 171 4 826 - 5 860
Additions 593 34 754 22 456 23 837
Disposals (136) - - -  (136)

At end of the year 1 320 205 5 580 22 456 29 561

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the year 428 95 2 428 - 2 951
Current year depreciation 306 38 283 1 123 1 750
Disposals (97) - - - (97)

At end of the year 637 133 2 711 1 123 4 604

Carrying amount – 2011 683 72 2 869 21 333 24 957

^  Motor vehicles are encumbered (refer note 7.4)
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2012 2011
r’000 r’000

7. LoanS anD aDVanCES

7.1 WESTERN PROVINCE CRICKET ASSOCIATION

Balance at the beginning of the year 18 768 21 668
Repayment (1 900) (2 900)

Balance at the end of the year 16 868 18 768

This loan arose out of a decision to support the Western Province Cricket 

Association (“WPCA”) in the purchase of the Newlands cricket ground.

The balance of the loan and interest accrued at 30 April 2010 was converted to 

an interest free loan on that date. The loan is repayable in instalments over 10 

years according to an agreed payment plan (last payment date being 30 April 

2020). The loan is secured over the stadium property as a second security. The 

fair value of the loan has been discounted at an average discount rate of 5.5% 

per annum (average return on funds invested on the money market). 

Nominal value 16 868 18 768
Fair value adjustment on loan (3 203) (4 268)

Fair value 13 665 14 500

Consisting of:
Non-current portion of the loan 10 304 12 307
Current portion of the loan 3 361 2 193

The maturity profile of the loan based on the contractual undiscounted cash 

flows (nominal value) and the corresponding discounted values (fair value) at 

year end is summarised below: 

2012 2012 2011 2011
nominal Fair nominal Fair

value value value value
r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

Less than 1 year 3 900 3 361 2 900 2 193
Between 1 and 5 years 7 375 5 265 9 275 7 508
After 5 years 5 593 5 039 6 593 4 799

16 868 13 665 18 768 14 500
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2012 2011
r’000 r’000

7. LoanS anD aDVanCES (continued)

7.2 GRIQuA DIAMONDS NPC 1 011 -

During the 2011/12 cricket season, the directors of the company provided 

financial assistance to its affiliate – Griqua Diamonds NPC. The loan is unsecured, 

interest free and repayable by way of monthly instalments with the final 

instalment in June 2013. The maturity profile of the loan has not been disclosed as 

the long term portion represents two months instalment ending 30 June 2013.

7.3 2010 CHAMPIONS LEAGuE T20 (SOuTH AFRICA)

Amount receivable - 8 388
Amount payable (10 572) (16 404)

During the 2010/11 cricket season, the company carried the administrative 

function for the 2010 Champions League T20 event held in South Africa. The 

amounts outstanding are effectively receivable from (payable to) the Champions 

League T20. The amounts outstanding are interest free and unsecured.

7.4 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY

Instalment sales agreement – Standard Bank 2 848 19 296
Current portion included under current liabilities (2 848) (16 434)

Non-current portion - 2 862

The instalment sales agreement with Standard Bank is payable in monthly 

instalments of R1 435 621 over a period of 2 months, bearing interest at the prime 

lending rate less 1%. The liability is secured by motor vehicles with a carrying 

amount of R17 964 914 (2011: R21 333 335).

8. TraDE anD oThEr rECEiVaBLES

Trade receivables 82 323 149 229
Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts (3 973) (1 152)

78 350 148 077
Prepayment 1 712 154
Interest on call accounts - 62
Sundry receivables 8 208 -

88 270 148 293

Total trade receivables (gross of allowances) held by the company as at 30 

April 2012 amounted to R82.3 million (2011: R149.2 million). The average trade 

receivables days are 60 days (2011: 60 days). No interest is charged on trade 

receivables.

At year-end there were 7 customers (2011: 4) who each represent more than 5% 

of the total balance of trade receivables. These debtors have a combined value of 

R67 515 000 (2011: R139 449 000). These are no other customers who represent 

5% or more of the total balance of trade receivables.
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* FC represents the foreign currency
Ω Includes ICC and CLT20 distributions

2012 2011
*FC’000 *FC’000

8. TraDE anD oThEr rECEiVaBLES (continued)

Included in the company’s total trade receivables balance are the following 

foreign currency receivables:

US$ 7 238 13 246

R’000 R’000

At the reporting date, the company’s trade receivable balance is disaggregated 

into the following broad product/service classes:

Sponsorships 18 289 40 486
Broadcasting 5 586 26 220
Other incomeΩ 58 448 82 523

82 323 149 229

Included in the company’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a 

carrying value of R33.4 million (2011: R34.5 million) which are past due at the 

reporting date for which the company has not provided as there has not been 

any significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered 

recoverable. The company does not hold any collateral over these balances. 

Subsequent to year end, a significant portion of the trade receivables balance 

has been received.

Ageing of past due, but not impaired

61 – 90 days 219 13 110
91 – 120 days 29 026 13 110
Over 120 days 4 115 8 255

33 360 34 475

The credit terms of the above past due trade receivables have not been 

renegotiated. 

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

1 – 60 days 2 620 -
61 – 90 days - -
91 – 120 days - -
Over 120 days 1 353 1 152

3 973 1 152

Process for accepting new customers

Applications are assessed individually and are linked to aspects of cricket 

business, being either related parties or generally blue chip commercial partners. 

The trade receivables balance at year end is not insured.
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2012 2011
r’000 r’000

8. TraDE anD oThEr rECEiVaBLES (continued)

Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts

Trade receivables are assessed for impairment on an individual basis. Objective 

evidence of impairment for trade receivables include the company’s past 

experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed 

payments in trade receivables past the average trade receivables days of 60 days, 

as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 

correlate with default receivables.

9. CaSh anD CaSh EQUiVaLEnTS

Call deposits 417 435 429 018
Bank balance and cash 57 143 67 610

474 578 496 628

Per category
Loans and receivables 474 578 496 628

Per currency
South African Rand 392 805 271 843
Foreign currencies (ZAR equivalent) 81 773 224 785

474 578 496 628

There are no reserving restrictions on cash balances at year end. All cash 

balances at year end are available for use by Cricket South Africa. All foreign 

currencies at year end were denominated in US dollars.

10. proViSion

Provision for litigation
Opening balance 500 2 650
Amount raised during the year 1 394 –
Amount used during the year (260) (150)
Amounts reversed during the year (240) (2 000)

Closing balance 1 394 500

The provision in the current year relates to a legal matter with Computicket. 

The amount provided is the directors’ best estimate of the outflow of economic 

benefit from the company.
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2012 2011
r’000 r’000

11. TraDE anD oThEr paYaBLES

Balance includes the following:
Trade payables 27 229 8 170
Accruals 30 848 62 561
Income received in advance 3 888 19 319

61 965 90 050

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days. No 

interest is charged on trade payables. The company has financial risk management 

in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit period.

12. riSK proFiLE

The company manages its capital to ensure it will be able to continue as a going concern.

Interest rate and liquidity risk
The company is exposed to changes in interest rates on a floating rate basis. The company manages liquidity risk 

by monitoring forecast cash flows. Short-term working capital requirements are funded from operational cash 

flows.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates as at the reporting 

date. A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the possible change in 

interest rates. If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the 

company’s loss for the year ended 30 April 2012 would decrease by R4.7 million (2011: profit for the year would 

increase by R4.8 million).

Foreign currency risk
The company is exposed to foreign currency risk on the amounts received, mainly from sponsors and 

broadcasters. The Financial and Commercial Committee reviews the company’s foreign cash flows regularly.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following table details the company’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Rand against other 

foreign currencies that it is exposed to. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk 

internally and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The 

sensitivity analysis includes foreign currency denominated revenue items and adjusts their translation during the 

year for a 10% change in foreign currency rates (all foreign currencies where denominated in US dollars).

Rand
Weakening of rand against foreign currencies by 10 % - Profit 25 018 705
Strengthening of rand against foreign currencies by 10% - Loss (25 018 705)

The above effect is mainly attributable to the exposure of the company to receipts from international television 

rights.

Credit risk management
Potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade and other receivables and short term cash 

investments. At the year end, the company considers that there were no significant concentrations of credit risk 

against which adequate provision has not been made.



77

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA NPC
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

12. riSK proFiLE (continued)

Fair values of financial instruments
At 30 April 2012 the carrying values of cash and short-term deposits, accounts receivable and accounts 

payable approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. All financial 

instruments are carried at fair value or amounts that approximate fair value, except for the non-current portion 

of fixed rate receivables (Western Province Cricket Association loan), which is carried at amortised cost. 

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents as well as the current portion of loans and other receivables 

and payables approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair values have 

been determined using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies.

The carrying value and fair value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities as at 30 April are stated below:

Carrying Fair 
value value

2012 R’000 R’000

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 474 578 474 578
Trade and other receivables 98 389 98 389
Loans receivable 17 879 14 676

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 61 965 61 965
Loans payable 10 572 10 572
Other financial liabilities 2 848 2 848

2011

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 496 628 496 628
Trade and other receivables 148 293 148 293
Loans receivable 27 155 22 888

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 90 050 90 050
Loans payable 16 404 16 404
Other financial liabilities 19 296 19 296
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13. rELaTED parTY TranSaCTionS

Trading transactions
Transactions between related parties during the year were at arm’s length. No expense has been recognised in 

the period for bad debts or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties as all amounts are 

recoverable in full. Details of the related party loans have been disclosed in note 7. 

During the year the company entered into the following transactions with related parties:

Included Included Included Included
in revenue in expenses in trade in trade

other and other
receivables payables

Entity Description R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2012 

EP Cricket Stadium Division PS - 555 - 819
Titans Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 2 593 2 084 - 1 272
Central Cricket Franchise BFN (Pty) Ltd F - 10 905 - 2
Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Limited F - 14 272 1 400 -
Eastern Titans (Pty) Limited F - 13 403 2 -
KZN (Pty) Limited F - 10 251 - -
Lions Cricket (Pty) Limited F - 10 658 - -
Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Limited F - 15 446 1 400 -
Boland Cricket NPC A 883 10 545 37 39
Border Cricket NPC A 552 8 916 227 39
Easterns Cricket NPC A 34 9 214 4 226
Eastern Province Cricket NPC A 1 467 9 076 - 39
Free State Cricket Union A 499 10 031 - 41
Gauteng Cricket NPC A 10 307 16 153 - 39
Griqua Diamonds NPC A 203 11 429 - 41
Kwa-Zulu Natal Cricket Union A 3 508 10 866 56 39
Northerns Cricket Union A 66 12 779 129 58
North West Cricket Union A 34 11 221 - 115
Western Province Cricket Association A 7 510 13 871 - 39
Kwa-Zulu Natal Inland Cricket Union AM - 4 927 111 19
Mpumalanga Cricket Union AM - 2 884 - 19
South West Districts Cricket Board AM - 5 480 - 39
Kei Cricket Board AM - 1 412 60 -

Totals 27 656 216 378 3 426 2 885
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 # The abbreviations represent the following:
 A – Affiliate
 F – Franchise
 AM – Associate member
 PS – Professional (Stadium)

Included Included Included Included
in revenue in expenses in trade in trade

other and other
receivables payables

Entity Description R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

13. rELaTED parTY TranSaCTionS (continued)

2011

EP Cricket Stadium Division PS 436 286 - -
Titans Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 2 133 1 152 - -
Western Province (Pty) Limited PS - 1 - -
Central Cricket Franchise BFN (Pty) Ltd F - 10 851 - 283
Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Limited F - 18 800 418 315
Eastern Titans (Pty) Limited F - 10 786 - 248
KZN (Pty) Limited F - 9 911 - 315
New Heights Cricket (Pty) Limited F - 13 573 - 313
Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Limited F - 11 389 - 230
Boland Cricket Union A 21 8 847 61 -
Border Cricket (s21) A 21 8 196 56 -
Eastern Cricket (s21) A 21 7 149 1 -
Eastern Province Cricket Board A 21 8 215 1 -
Free State Cricket Union A 21 9 571 1 -
Gauteng Cricket Board (s21) A 2 171 9 655 1 -
Griqua Diamonds (s21) A 21 8 906 1 -
Kwa-Zulu Natal Cricket Union A 5 648 10 827 8 26
Northerns Cricket Union A 40 11 482 1 -
North West Cricket (s21) A 21 10 811 1 -
Western Province Cricket Association A 3 628 9 280 1 -
Kwa-Zulu Natal Inland Cricket Union AM 20 4 728 - 26
Mpumalanga Cricket Union AM 20 3 134 - -
South West Districts Cricket Board AM 20 4 678 - -
Kei Cricket Board AM - 1 470 - -

Totals 14 263 193 698 551 1 756
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14. DirECTorS’ anD prESCriBED oFFiCErS’ rEmUnEraTion

All remuneration, including that of management and staff, is reviewed and approved by the Remuneration 

Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends. Remuneration pertaining to 

the chief executive director and prescribed officers are approved by board. Remuneration pertaining to non-

executive directors is approved at the company’s annual general meeting by the members’ forum.

The directors’ and prescribed officers’ remuneration for the year ended 30 April 2012 was as follows:

Salary retirement other guaranteed Bonus Total
and medical package

2012 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

Executive directors
M G Majola 2 068 227 303 2 599 - 2 599
J Faul - - 133 133 - 133

2 068 227 436 2 732 - 2 732

Prescribed officers
N Appiah 865 95 41 1 001 160 1 161
C van Zyl 919 - 41 960 153 1 113

1 784 95 82 1 961 313 2 274

Fees honoraria Total
 r’000 r’000 r’000

Non-executive directors
M Nyoka 9 43 52
A K Khan 19 119 138
D Basson 2 32 34
J A Bester 23 115 138
J H Blair 12 8 20
R S Classen 21 9 30
L Crawley 23 9 32
P W Cyster 23 9 32
M Ebrahim 9 - 9
M F Jaffar 23 9 32
A Jinnah 11 - 11
R R Mali  856* -  856*
D T May 14 1 15
T N Mgoduso 9 15 24
H E Molotsi 23 9 32
G. Naidoo 19 9 28
H C Nenzani 23 9 32
M G Nkagisang 23 9 32
V Ntswahlana 9 8 17
A G O’Connor 23 9 32
E Pretorius 21 9 30
R Richards 12 9 21
V N Sinovich 23 9 32
P N Thamae 19 9 28
B Williams 14 9 23

1 263 467 1 730

 

 

* Includes use of sponsored car valued at R16 000. 
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14. DirECTorS’ anD prESCriBED oFFiCErS’ rEmUnEraTion (continued)

All remuneration, including that of management and staff, is reviewed and approved by the Remuneration 

Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends. Remuneration pertaining to 

the chief executive director and prescribed officers are approved by board. Remuneration pertaining to non-

executive directors is approved at the company’s annual general meeting by the members’ forum.

The directors’ and prescribed officers’ remuneration for the year ended 30 April 2011 was as follows:

retirement other guaranteed Total
Salary and medical package Bonus

2011 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

Executive directors
M G Majola 1 832 290 147 2 269 3 192 5 461

1 832 290 147 2 269 3 192 5 461

Prescribed officers
N Appiah 438 65 67 570 287 857
C van Zyl 1 201 21 248 1 470 155 1 625

1 639 86 315 2 040 442  2 482

Fees honoraria Total
r’000  r’000 r’000

Non-executive directors
M Nyoka 13 242 255
A K Khan 13 129 142
J A Bester 2 162 164
C Beggs 18 - 18
J H Blair 2 13 15
R S Classen 9 13 22
L Crawley 13 13 26
P W Cyster 11 13 24
M Ebrahim 13 13 26
F Gericke 19 - 19
P Harris 31 - 31
M F Jaffar 7 13 20
A Jinnah 11 13 24
K Lang 7 - 7
R R Mali 582 40 622 
D T May 11 13 24
V Mgadle 4 - 4
T N Mgoduso - - -
H E Molotsi 11 13 24
G. Naidoo 11 13 24
H C Nenzani 9 13 22
M G Nkagisang 11 13 24
A G O’Connor 11 13 24
E Pretorius 20 26 46
V N Sinovich 11 13 24
P N Thamae 7 13 20
H Van Wyk - - -

857 794 1 651
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15. rETirEmEnT BEnEFiT inFormaTion

 Retirement benefits are provided for employees by means of a provident fund to which the company contributes. 

The fund is governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. All employees contribute to the fund.

 The fund in operation at 30 April 2012 was the Destiny Umbrella Fund administered by GIB Financial Services (Pty) 

Ltd. These are defined contribution plans where the retirement benefits are determined with reference to the 

employee’s contributions. No actuarial valuations are required.

2012 2011
r’000 r’000

Provident fund contributions by the employer 1 921 2 660

16. KEY aSSUmpTionS ConCErning ThE FUTUrE anD KEY SoUrCES oF ESTimaTion UnCErTainTY

 As required to be disclosed in terms of IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements, there are no significant 

assumptions made concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.

17. CriTiCaL jUDgEmEnTS in appLYing aCCoUnTing poLiCiES

 In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management is required to make estimates, 

judgements and assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that is not readily apparent from 

other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 

are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 

of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year.

 Asset lives and residual values

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their expected useful lives. Residual 

values and asset lives are assessed annually based on management’s judgment of relevant factors and conditions.

 Other estimates made

 The company also makes estimates for:

 the calculation of the allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts;

 the calculation of any provision for claims, litigation and other legal matters;

 the calculation of any other provisions;

 the calculation of the fair value of financial instruments; and

 the assessment of impairments and the calculation of the recoverable amounts of assets.
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2012 2011
r’000 r’000

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Management of the company is not aware of any contingent liabilities 

and commitments at year end other than the contingent liabilities 

disclosed below and operating lease commitments disclosed in note 19.

Contingent liabilities

Litigation – pending 1 207 -

The amounts disclosed represent the company’s maximum exposure 

of contingent liabilities as at the reporting date. The extent to which an 

outflow of funds will be required is dependent on future judgements 

being equal or less favourable than currently expected.

19. opEraTing LEaSE CommiTmEnTS

Minimum lease payments under operating leases for equipment 

recognised as an expense in the year.

237 170

Minimum lease payments under operating leases for premises 

recognised as an expense in the year

658 627

895 797

At the reporting date outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 

operating equipment leases to external parties, which fall due, are as 

follows:

Within one year 118 102
Between one and five years 394 -

512 102

At the reporting date outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 

operating premises leases to external parties, which fall due, are as 

follows:

Within one year 682 658
Between one and five years 3 840 3 787
Over five years 1 080 1 949

5 602 6 394

20. STaTEmEnT oF oThEr ComprEhEnSiVE inComE

No statement of other comprehensive income has been prepared as the 

company had no transactions in the current and prior year that had an 

impact on the statement of comprehensive income.
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21. ChangES To ComparaTiVE inFormaTion

The comparative information has been amended to reflect the 

reclassification of international gate revenue and share of international 

gate revenue paid to the company’s affiliates (disclosed in administrative 

expenses and fees). In the prior period, the net amount retained by the 

company was disclosed as international gate revenue. The amendment 

results in more comparable information relative to the company’s affiliates 

and industry and reflects the gross amounts received from the gate.

The amendment had no impact on the company’s operating profit. The 

effect of the above changes on the annual financial statements for the year 

ended 30 April 2011 is as follows:

22. ChangES in aCCoUnTing STanDarDS

At the date of the authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were 

in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards

–  Amendments resulting from Annual 

Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle (repeat 

application, borrowing costs)

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments

– Amendments resulting from May 2010 

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2011

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments

–  Amendments enhancing disclosures about 

transfers of financial assets

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments

–  Amendments related to the offsetting of 

assets and liabilities

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013 and interim periods within those periods

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Original issue (Classification and measurement 

of financial assets)

Annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2013

previously stated reclassification reclassified
r’000 r’000 r’000

Revenue 727 472 16 675 744 147
International gates revenue 17 572 16 675 34 247

Expenses (470 934) (16 675) (487 609)
Administrative expenses and fees (79 017) (16 675) (95 692)



85

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA NPC
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

IFRS 13 Fair Value measurement

Original issue

Annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2013

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

– Amendments resulting from May 2010 

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2011

IAS 12 Income Taxes

–  Limited scope amendment (recovery of 

underlying assets)

Annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2012

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendments resulting from Annual 

Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle (servicing 

equipment)

Annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2013

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

– Revised definition of related parties

Annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2011

 None of the standards and interpretations that have been published, but not yet effective, are expected to have a 

significant financial impact on the amounts recorded in the financial statements.

 

23. poST rEporTing DaTE EVEnTS

 No events have occurred between the financial year end and the date of this report that materially affect the 

financial position of the company. 

22. ChangES in aCCoUnTing STanDarDS (continued)
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Obituaries
Saluting our cricket heroes

MOBIN BHIKHOO (FOUNDER OF SOME CRICKET CLUBS, 

TRANSVAAL)

Born 05 August 1937 and died on 24 August 2011

 

DENNIS ROY CARLSTEIN

Born Kimberley 27.2.1929. Died Potchefstroom 24.3.2012 

aged 83.

 

SuLEIMAN “SOLLY” CHOTHIA

Born Nigel, Transvaal 10.8.1941. Died Nigel, Gauteng 

25.8.2011 aged 70.

 

CHARLES KEVIN COVENTRY (UMPIRE)

Born Que Que, Rhodesia 22.9.1958. Died Bulawayo, 

Zimbabwe 7.8.2011 aged 52.

GRAHAM ROY DILLEY (PLAYED FOR NATAL)

Born Dartford, Kent, England 18.5.1959. Died Leicester, 

Leicestershire, England 5.10.2011 aged 52.

 

BASIL LEWIS D’OLIVEIRA

Born Signal Hill, Cape Town 4.10.1931.

Died Stanfield Nursing Home, Rushwick, Worcester, 

Worcestershire, England 18.11.2011 aged 80.

 

DAVID JOHN EADIE (OXFORD UN – BORN IN SA)

Born Cape Town 2.1.1975. Died Mouille Point, Cape Town 

7.5.2011 aged 36.

 

HENRY STANLEY LACEY

Born Fordsburg, Johannesburg 31.5.1920. Died 22.9.2011 

Pinelands, Cape Town aged 91

 

ELIZABETH (ELISE) LOMBARD

Born Estcourt, 2.11.1949. Died 09.08.2012, aged 63

 

LuLAMA MASIKAZANA

Born Port Elizabeth 6.2.1973. Died Port Elizabeth 7.10.2011 

aged 38.

 

JOHN DOuGLAS MORRIS

Born Mowbray, Cape Town 1.7.1940. Died Hillcrest, 

KwaZulu-Natal 26.10.2011 aged 71.

 

DOuGLAS MacPHERSON OVENSTONE

Born Sea Point, Cape Town 31.7.1921. Died Llandudno, 

Cape Town 6.11.2011 aged 90.

 

MALCOLM HENRY HuGH RICHARDSON

Born 23.06.1931, Kalk Bay Cape Town. Died Cape Town 

11.08.2012, aged 81

 

PETER MICHAEL ROEBuCK (BECAUSE HE DIED IN SA)

Born Oxford, England 6.3.1956. Died Newlands, Cape 

Town 12.11.2011 aged 55.

 

DAVID JAMES THOMAS (PLAYED IN SA)

Born Solihull, Warwickshire 30.6.1959. Died Chalfont St 

Peter, Buckinghamshire, England 27.7.2012 aged 53.

 

TREVOR JOHAN VAN DER WALT (UMP)

Born Johannesburg, Gauteng 5/3/1959. Died George, 

Western Cape 10/6/2012 aged 53.

 

CARL JOHANNES VAN HEERDEN (FREE STATE 

ADMINISTRATOR)

Born East London 03.06.1934. Died Woodlands Hills, 

Bloemfontein 19.06.2012, aged 78.

 

LOuIS PHILLIPPuS VORSTER

Born Potchefstroom, Transvaal 2.11.1966. Died 

Muldersdrift, Gauteng 17.4.2012 aged 45.

 

GARY AuGuST WEBER

Born East London 24.04.1952. Died Lily Kirchmann Home, 

Berea, East London 07.04.2012 aged 59.

JuGOO GOVENDER
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Hashim Amla 
celebrates reaching 
his triple century 
during day four of 
the first Investec 
Test match between 
England and South 
Africa
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Cricket South Africa
Staff Members
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